

Zurich Open Repository and Archive University of Zurich Main Library Strickhofstrasse 39 CH-8057 Zurich www.zora.uzh.ch

Year: 2021

# Recent advances in heteromorph ammonoid palaeobiology

Hoffmann, René ; Slattery, Joshua S ; Kruta, Isabelle ; Linzmeier, Benjamin J ; Lemanis, Robert E ; Mironenko, Aleksandr ; Goolaerts, Stijn ; De Baets, Kenneth ; Peterman, David J ; Klug, Christian

Abstract: Heteromorphs are ammonoids forming a conch with detached whorls (open coiling) or non-planispiral coiling. Such aberrant forms appeared convergently four times within this extinct group of cephalopods. Since Wiedmann's seminal paper in this journal, the palaeobiology of heteromorphs has advanced substantially. Combining direct evidence from their fossil record, indirect insights from phylogenetic bracketing, and physical as well as virtual models, we reach an improved understanding of heteromorph ammonoid palaeobiology. Their anatomy, buoyancy, locomotion, predators, diet, palaeoecology, and extinction are discussed. Based on phylogenetic bracketing with nautiloids and coleoids, heteromorphs like other ammonoids had 10 arms, a well-developed brain, lens eyes, a buccal mass with a radula and a smaller upper as well as a larger lower jaw, and ammonia in their soft tissue. Heteromorphs likely lacked arm suckers, hooks, tentacles, a hood, and an ink sac. All Cretaceous heteromorphs share an aptychus-type lower jaw with a lamellar calcitic covering. Differences in radular tooth morphology and size in heteromorphs suggest a microphagous diet. Stomach contents of heteromorphs comprise planktic crustaceans, gastropods, and crinoids, suggesting a zooplanktic diet. Forms with a U-shaped body chamber (ancylocone) are regarded as suspension feeders, whereas orthoconic forms additionally might have consumed benchic prev. Heteromorphs could achieve near-neutral buoyancy regardless of conch shape or ontogeny. Orthoconic heteromorphs likely had a vertical orientation, whereas ancylocone heteromorphs had a near-horizontal aperture pointing upwards. Heteromorphs with a U-shaped body chamber are more stable hydrodynamically than modern Nautilus and were unable substantially to modify their orientation by active locomotion, i.e. they had no or limited access to benthic prey at adulthood. Pathologies reported for heteromorphs were likely inflicted by crustaceans, fish, marine reptiles, and other cephalopods. Pathologies on Ptychoceras corroborates an external shell and rejects the endocochleate hypothesis. Devonian, Triassic, and Jurassic heteromorphs had a preference for deep-subtidal to offshore facies but are rare in shallow-subtidal, slope, and bathyal facies. Early Cretaceous heteromorphs preferred deep-subtidal to bathyal facies. Late Cretaceous heteromorphs are common in shallow-subtidal to offshore facies. Oxygen isotope data suggest rapid growth and a demersal habitat for adult Discoscaphites and Baculites. A benthic embryonic stage, planktic hatchlings, and a habitat change after one whorl is proposed for Hoploscaphites. Carbon isotope data indicate that some Baculites lived throughout their lives at cold seeps. Adaptation to a planktic life habit potentially drove selection towards smaller hatchlings, implying high fecundity and an ecological role of the hatchlings as micro- and mesoplankton. The Chicxulub impact at the Cretaceous/Paleogene (K/Pg) boundary 66 million years ago is the likely trigger for the extinction of ammonoids. Ammonoids likely persisted after this event for 40–500 thousand years and are exclusively represented by heteromorphs. The ammonoid extinction is linked to their small hatchling sizes, planktotrophic diets, and higher metabolic rates than in nautilids, which survived the K/Pg mass extinction event.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12669

Posted at the Zurich Open Repository and Archive, University of Zurich ZORA URL: https://doi.org/10.5167/uzh-196839 Journal Article Published Version



The following work is licensed under a Creative Commons: Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) License.

Originally published at:

Hoffmann, René; Slattery, Joshua S; Kruta, Isabelle; Linzmeier, Benjamin J; Lemanis, Robert E; Mironenko, Aleksandr; Goolaerts, Stijn; De Baets, Kenneth; Peterman, David J; Klug, Christian (2021). Recent advances in heteromorph ammonoid palaeobiology. Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 96(2):576-610.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12669

1

# Recent advances in heteromorph ammonoid palaeobiology

René Hoffmann<sup>1\*</sup>, Joshua S. Slattery<sup>2</sup>, Isabelle Kruta<sup>3</sup>, Benjamin J. Linzmeier<sup>4</sup>, Robert E. Lemanis<sup>5</sup>, Aleksandr Mironenko<sup>6</sup>, Stijn Goolaerts<sup>7</sup>, Kenneth De Baets<sup>8</sup>, David J. Peterman<sup>9</sup> and Christian Klug<sup>10</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institut für Geologie, Mineralogie und Geophysik, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Bochum, 44801, Germany

<sup>2</sup>School of Geosciences, University of South Florida, 4202 East Fowler Ave., NES 107, Tampa, FL, 33620, U.S.A.

<sup>3</sup>CR2P – Centre de Recherche en Paléntologie – Paris, UMR 7207, Sorbonne Université-MNHN-CNRS, 4 place Jussieu, case 104, Paris, 75005, France

<sup>4</sup>Department of Geoscience, University of Wisconsin - Madison, Madison, WI, 53706, U.S.A.

<sup>5</sup>B CUBE – Center for Molecular Bioengineering, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, 01307, Germany

<sup>6</sup>Geological Institute of RAS, Pyzhevski Lane 7, Moscow, 119017, Russia

<sup>7</sup>OD Earth & History of Life, and Scientific Service Heritage, Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Vautierstraat 29, Brussels, B-1000, Belgium

<sup>8</sup>GeoZentrum Nordbayern, Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen-Nürnberg, Erlangen, 91054, Germany

<sup>9</sup>Department of Earth and Environmental Sciences, Wright State University, 3640 Colonel Glenn Highway, Dayton, OH, 45435, U.S.A.

<sup>10</sup>Paläontologisches Institut und Museum, Universität Zürich, Karl-Schmid-Strasse 4, Zürich, 8006, Switzerland

# ABSTRACT

Heteromorphs are ammonoids forming a conch with detached whorls (open coiling) or non-planispiral coiling. Such aberrant forms appeared convergently four times within this extinct group of cephalopods. Since Wiedmann's seminal paper in this journal, the palaeobiology of heteromorphs has advanced substantially. Combining direct evidence from their fossil record, indirect insights from phylogenetic bracketing, and physical as well as virtual models, we reach an improved understanding of heteromorph ammonoid palaeobiology. Their anatomy, buoyancy, locomotion, predators, diet, palaeoecology, and extinction are discussed. Based on phylogenetic bracketing with nautiloids and coleoids, heteromorphs like other ammonoids had 10 arms, a well-developed brain, lens eyes, a buccal mass with a radula and a smaller upper as well as a larger lower jaw, and ammonia in their soft tissue. Heteromorphs likely lacked arm suckers, hooks, tentacles, a hood, and an ink sac. All Cretaceous heteromorphs share an aptychus-type lower jaw with a lamellar calcitic covering. Differences in radular tooth morphology and size in heteromorphs suggest a microphagous diet. Stomach contents of heteromorphs comprise planktic crustaceans, gastropods, and crinoids, suggesting a zooplanktic diet. Forms with a U-shaped body chamber (ancylocone) are regarded as suspension feeders, whereas orthoconic forms additionally might have consumed benthic prey. Heteromorphs could achieve near-neutral buoyancy regardless of conch shape or ontogeny. Orthoconic heteromorphs likely had a vertical orientation, whereas ancylocone heteromorphs had a nearhorizontal aperture pointing upwards. Heteromorphs with a U-shaped body chamber are more stable hydrodynamically than modern *Nautilus* and were unable substantially to modify their orientation by active locomotion, i.e. they had no or limited access to benthic prey at adulthood. Pathologies reported for heteromorphs were likely inflicted by crustaceans, fish, marine reptiles, and other cephalopods. Pathologies on *Ptychoceras* corroborates an external shell and rejects the endocochleate hypothesis. Devonian, Triassic, and Jurassic heteromorphs had a preference for deep-subtidal to offshore facies but are rare in shallow-subtidal, slope, and bathyal facies. Early Cretaceous heteromorphs preferred deep-subtidal to bathyal facies. Late Cretaceous heteromorphs are common in shallow-subtidal to offshore facies. Oxygen isotope data suggest rapid growth and a demersal habitat for adult *Discoscaphites* and *Baculites*. A benthic embryonic stage, planktic hatchlings, and a habitat change after one whorl is proposed for *Hoploscaphites*. Carbon isotope data indicate that some Baculites lived throughout their lives at cold seeps. Adaptation to a planktic life habit potentially drove selection towards

<sup>\*</sup> Address for correspondence (Tel: +492343223203; E-mail: rene.hoffmann@rub.de)

*Biological Reviews* (2021) 000–000 © 2020 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

smaller hatchlings, implying high fecundity and an ecological role of the hatchlings as micro- and mesoplankton. The Chicxulub impact at the Cretaceous/Paleogene (K/Pg) boundary 66 million years ago is the likely trigger for the extinction of ammonoids. Ammonoids likely persisted after this event for 40-500 thousand years and are exclusively represented by heteromorphs. The ammonoid extinction is linked to their small hatchling sizes, planktotrophic diets, and higher metabolic rates than in nautilids, which survived the K/Pg mass extinction event.

Key words: cephalopods, heteromorph ammonoids, palaeobiology, anatomy, geochemistry, facies distribution

# CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Soft body reconstruction	3
	(1) Buccal mass	3
	(a) Faws	3
	(b) Radula	5
	(c) Enigmatic structures found in the body chamber	5
	(2) Muscle system	5
	(3) Ink sac	6
	(4) Digestive tract	6
	(5) Shell colour patterns	7
III.	Buoyancy and locomotion	7
	(1) Physical models	9
	(2) Virtual models	9
IV.	Écological interactions	11
	(1) Predators	. 11
	(2) Prey	. 13
	(3) Epizoa, parasites, and commensalism	. 14
V.	Habitat reconstruction	15
	(1) Taphonomic controls on facies distributions	. 15
	(2) Life habit controls on facies distributions	. 16
	(3) Ecological requirements based on shell geochemistry	. 18
	(4) Reproduction	. 20
	(5) Intraspecific variability	. 20
VI.	Heteromorphs through time	21
	(1) Devonian heteromorphs	. 21
	(2) Triassic heteromorphs	. 23
	(3) Jurassic heteromorphs	. 24
	(4) Cretaceous heteromorphs and ammonoid extinction	. 25
VII.	Conclusions	26
VIII.	Acknowledgements	27
IX.	References	27
Х.	Supporting information	35

# I. INTRODUCTION

Heteromorphs are ammonoids that are defined by detached whorls (open coiling) or non-planispiral coiling, and thus deviate from the monomorph bauplan. The oldest mention of the term 'heteromorph' in relation to ammonoid shell shape that we could identify is in Whitehouse (1926). Heteromorphy may occur at any growth stage and can be expressed throughout ontogeny or be restricted to a single or a few growth stages (cf. Wiedmann, 1969). Ammonoids with modified apertures or angular coiling at the very end of their body chambers due to morphogenetic countdown (sensu Seilacher & Gunji, 1993) are not classified as heteromorphs. Heteromorphy occurred in many evolutionary lineages, and thus by definition, the term 'heteromorph ammonoid' forms a polyphyletic 'grouping'. Heteromorphy appeared multiple times during the history of ammonoids, beginning with the first ammonoids in the early Devonian to their very end at the Cretaceous/Paleogene boundary (see Section VI). Heteromorphy was most common in the Cretaceous, which is the reason why many textbooks identify heteromorphs (only) as Cretaceous Ancyloceratina, and why most of the available data on their palaeobiology comes from Cretaceous examples. Only Cretaceous heteromorphs show an important modification of the suture line, namely a reduction from five to four lobes in the primary suture line, which was used

by earlier workers to define them as a monophyletic group (Korn et al., 2003), an outdated idea that is strictly rejected herein. It was also the diversity of 'aberrant' forms during the Cretaceous that was used in the outdated hypothesis of degeneration ('typolysis') to explain the cause of their extinction (Schindewolf, 1936; Wiedmann, 1969; Korn, 2003). Some of their complex conch shapes (conch refers to the entire skeleton, shell refers to the material) without apparent streamlining have been used to argue for an immobile benthic or pseudoplanktic life habit for ammonoids (Arkhipkin, 2014), an interpretation that was fuelled by the rapid replacement of loosely coiled (heteromorph) forms by tightly coiled (monomorph) ammonoids during their early evolution in the Devonian (e.g. Klug & Korn, 2004; De Baets et al., 2012; Klug et al., 2015a). It is now widely accepted that heteromorphs independently and convergently evolved from different phylogenetic lineages during the Triassic, Jurassic, and multiple times during the Cretaceous (Cecca, 1997). Evolutionary relationships within the heteromorphs, particularly during the Cretaceous, require refinement (Wright, Callomon & Howarth, 1996; Kaplan, 2002). To what degree heteromorphs had comparable life habits is still debated, but is crucial for understanding their radiations, evolutionary successes, and extinctions during each period.

Here, we review the currently known constraints of heteromorph palaeobiology and ecology using a wide range of approaches to disentangle the factors driving the organisation and evolution of heteromorph conch shapes within Ammonoidea.

# **II. SOFT BODY RECONSTRUCTION**

Remains of soft parts are rarely preserved in ammonoids (e.g. Closs, 1967*a*,*b*). However, two reported cases come from heteromorphs, namely trochospiral *Allocrioceras* (Wippich & Lehmann, 2004; Keupp, Saad & Schweigert, 2016*b*) and orthoconic *Sciponoceras* (Klug, Riegraf & Lehmann, 2012; Klug & Lehmann, 2015). In these genera, remains of the digestive tract including the oesophagus (well preserved due to its original chitinous cover), crop, and stomach are preserved as thin organic sheets (Fig. 1).

Klug *et al.* (2012) and Klug & Lehmann (2015) proposed that structures surrounding the oesophagus of *Sciponoceras* might represent phosphatised parts of the cephalic cartilage with the eye capsules. Both phylogenetic bracketing with nautiloids and coleoids (Witmer, 1995; Klug *et al.*, 2015*a*, 2019; Shigeno *et al.*, 2018) and the limited fossil evidence suggest the presence of a well-developed brain in these heteromorphs. We speculate that the evolution of the nervous system in cephalopods was linked with the need to control their position in space and to handle information from sensory systems like eyes and statocysts (sensory receptors for balance and orientation).

Phylogenetically, ammonoids are positioned between nautilids with their pinhole camera eye and coleoids with a lens eye. The shared ancestry of ammonoids and coleoids (derived from bactritids; Kröger, Vinther & Fuchs, 2011), and their potential for a more active lifestyle similar to coleoids, suggests that ammonoids had lens eyes. Putative eye capsules are relatively large in *Sciponoceras*, suggesting the presence of large eyes in baculitids (Klug *et al.*, 2012; Klug & Lehmann, 2015), which is supported by deep lateral sinuses on their apertures providing structural space for large eyes useful for an active lifestyle.

The number, shape, and proportions of the arms ammonoids possessed are subject to ongoing debate. Structures anterior to the jaws in Sciponoceras (Klug et al., 2012; Klug & Lehmann, 2015) might represent arm bases. Various authors have suggested that the arms of heteromorphs were short (Landman, Cobban & Larson, 2012a). Klug et al. (2015a) applied phylogenetic bracketing (Witmer, 1995), and argued that it is most parsimonious to assume that all ammonoids including heteromorphs had 10 arms (Klug & Lehmann, 2015). The same line of reasoning suggests that ammonoid arms lacked suckers and hooks (but see Section II.1c), and that they had no tentacles (extendable extremities longer than the arms), which is weakly supported by the absence of fossil evidence of these structures. Clements et al. (2017) found that members of the clade comprising modern 10-armed cephalopods (sepiids and squids) decompose faster as a function of their higher ammonia content, therefore connecting coleoid cephalopod taphonomy with physiology. Thus, the scarcity of soft-part preservation in ammonoids could be linked to both the ammonia content of their soft parts and that potentially preserved soft parts are often covered by shell remains.

Closs (1967*a*,*b*) interpreted ammonoids as possessing a hood, but re-examination of his Carboniferous material suggests a misidentification of a shell fragment situated near the aperture as a hood (Lehmann, Klug & Wild, 2015). Using phylogenetic bracketing and information from the embryonic development of modern nautilids Shigeno *et al.* (2008) and Shigeno, Sasaki & Boletzky (2010) suggest that the hood is derived from Anlagen (developmental foundation) of the arm crown which is absent in ammonoids.

# (1) Buccal mass

### (a) Jaws

The buccal apparatus is known for several Ancyloceratina, and in the Ammonitina for *Spiroceras* (Tanabe, Kruta & Landman, 2015*a*) (see online Supporting Information, Table S1). It follows the general pattern of ammonoid jaws: a smaller upper jaw nested within a larger lower jaw (Fig. 1E). The upper jaw is conservative in ammonoids and has a blunt rostrum with inner lamellae for the support of the muscular tissue split into two rounded wings (Tanabe *et al.*, 2015*a*). Lower jaws are morphologically variable with different shapes, ornamentation, and microstructure of the calcitic covering. Most heteromorphs have an aptychus-type jaw with a central commissure (symphysis) dividing the lower



**Fig. 1.** Soft body reconstruction of an orthocone heteromorph. (A) Empty conch with body chamber and parts of the phragmocone. (B) Overlay image of conch and soft body with eyes and arms. (C) Reconstructed soft body with the digestive tract, buccal mass, and ovary. (D) Lower jaw of *Aegocrioceras* (Hauterivian, NW Germany). Scale bar = 1 cm. (E) Detailed parts of the buccal mass showing radula (E2) and upper and lower jaws (E1, E3). (F) Six morphological heteromorph archaetypes. Abbreviations used in A–C: arms, 10 arms of equal length without suckers or hooks; bc, body chamber; bm, buccal mass (see E for details); ca, caecum; cr, crop (covered by digestive gland); dg, digestive gland; drm, dorsal retractor muscle; fu, funnel; gi, gill; in, intestine; mc, mantle cavity; oe, oesophagus; os, ocular sinus; ov, ovary; ph, phragmocone; si, siphuncle; st, stomach.

4

jaw into two valves lacking a sharp rostral tip. In Crioceratidae, the symphysis is poorly expressed and due to this fact, their jaws are interpreted by some authors as an anaptychus-type jaw (Engeser & Keupp, 2002). In contrast to an anaptychus interpretation, Tanabe *et al.* (2015*a*) considered the crioceratid lower jaws as the inner chitinous lamella of the aptychus. Later, Rogov & Mironenko (2016) reported Hauterivian praestriaptychi associated with early crioceratids (*Criosarasinella* and *Crioceratites*) suggesting that one of these taxa had an aptychus-type jaw (praestriaptychus, see Table S1).

In the aptychus-type lower jaw, the surface is covered by a calcitic layer either with a striated surface (praestriaptychus and striaptychus) or with rugae (rugaptychus). The outline of the lower jaw spread open matches the shape of the whorl cross section (Baculites, Scaphites), which led to the suggestion that this structure had an opercular function. By contrast, Larson & Landman (2017) and Landman & Waage (1993b) argued that the jaws of Baculites, even when fully splayed out, did not touch the inner surface of the conch tube. Accordingly, they rejected an operculum function of the lower jaw in Baculites. Parent, Westermann & Chamberlain jr. (2014) suggested that lower jaw types like praestriaptychus and striaptychus could fulfill multiple functions: lower mandible, operculum, filtering device, flushing benthic prey, pumping for jet propulsion and stabilizing against pitching [for praestriaptychus see Parent et al. (2014) and Tanabe et al. (2015a)].

The microstructure of the calcitic covering of aptychi varies in ammonoids between tubular and lamellar [Farinacci *et al.* (1976); see Kruta *et al.* (2009) for heteromorphs]. The calcitic covering in all Cretaceous heteromorph jaws is lamellar. In *Baculites*, the calcitic covering can reach 1 mm in thickness and two main layers have been described (R1 and R2) consisting of overlapping thin (3  $\mu$ m thickness) calcitic increments (Kruta *et al.*, 2009). The aptychus is 0.5 mm thick in *Hoploscaphites* and 0.03 mm in *Polyptychoceras* without ornamentation.

#### (b) Radula

The use of tomographic techniques on three in situ Baculites radulae allowed description of their jaw apparatus (Kruta et al., 2011). The radular ribbon lies between the upper and lower jaws. Each tooth row of the radula is composed of nine elements (one central tooth, two pairs of lateral teeth, one pair of marginal teeth, and one pair of marginal plates) (Fig. 1E). The central rachidian tooth and the two pairs of lateral teeth are delicately multicuspidate, while the marginal tooth is long and sabre-like. The same radula composition and morphology was revealed for a baculitid (? Sciponoceras) from the Late Cretaceous of Germany (Klug et al., 2012). Multicuspidate radular teeth found in situ in Rhaeboceras have been described by Kruta et al. (2013) and Kruta, Landman & Tanabe (2015). The only other report (see Table S1) of a radula from heteromorphs is from a Spiroceras (Tanabe et al., 2015a) but the number of radular teeth per row and their morphology remains unknown.

#### (c) Enigmatic structures found in the body chamber

Cuspidate structures associated with jaws have been found in the body chamber of several species of well-preserved heteromorphs and re-coiled scaphitids. Landman & Waage (1993b) described bicuspidate structures in two Maastrichtian species from South Dakota: Hoploscaphites spedeni and H. nicolletii. Kennedy et al. (2002b) documented similar cuspidate structures in Rhaeboceras halli, a re-coiled scaphitid from the Campanian of Montana, and interpreted them as radular teeth. Kruta et al. (2013) rejected this interpretation after finding actual radular teeth in three specimens of *R. halli*. These in situ teeth match the size and morphology of radular teeth known from other aptychophoran ammonoids (Kruta et al., 2015; Keupp et al., 2016a). Landman et al. (2013) documented additional structures associated with H. gilberti from the Campanian of South Dakota. Ongoing studies are characterising the diverse morphology of these enigmatic structures in R. halli (Kruta et al., 2019) and their function in scaphitids, e.g. hooks on the hectocotylised arm.

# (2) Muscle system

Although there is no unequivocal report of fossilised muscles from ammonoids we can make inferences about their muscle system (Doguzhaeva & Mapes, 2015). Based on dimensions of attachment scars, the cephalic retractor muscles inserted at the largest postero-lateral attachment sites. However, Mironenko (2015*b*) argued that these muscles were attached dorsally with the nuchal retractors in Jurassic ammonoids like *Kachpurites*. In his opinion, the hyponome muscles inserted laterally in the annular elevation or the lateral sinus. Mironenko (2015*b*) proposed that the collar was attached laterally. Mironenko's (2015*b*) interpretation of their function and homology with muscles in nautilids and coleoids raises several questions, which cannot yet be fully answered given the paucity of available anatomical information.

(1) Does the arrangement of the main muscles in ammonoids correspond to that of modern Nautilus? Jacobs & Landman (1993, p. 101) stated that *Nautilus* is in some respects "a poor model for the function and behaviour of ammonoids", but is the only living ectocochleate cephalopod for comparison. Nevertheless, in the absence of coleoids with chambered conchs and a long body chamber, Nautilus represents one of the most important living relatives used to reconstruct ammonoid palaeobiology. Jacobs & Landman (1993) support Mironenko's (2015b) interpretation of a dorsal insertion of retractor muscles. The muscle attachment patterns of Audouliceras renauxianum from the Russian Cretaceous figured in Doguzhaeva & Mapes (2015, Figs. 14.1–14.4) may support this hypothesis, because there are large dorsoventral (umbilical) 'tongue-like marks'. In this ancylocone, the adult body chamber forms a characteristic hook. To enhance efficiency of the retractor muscles, the distance to the head must be minimised. Due to the curve in the adult body chamber, a posterior insertion of straight cephalic retractors is impossible. By contrast, an anterior insertion of retractor muscles would have reduced the length of these muscles, thereby increasing their efficiency. Nevertheless, this homologisation requires further evidence. Ultimately, we will have to await specimens preserving remains of the musculature.

- (2) Are coleoid muscles homologous with ammonoid muscles? Homology of the mantle in coleoids (cf. Jacobs & Landman, 1993; Fuchs et al., 2016) with that of ammonoids is likely. However, it is also probable that the ammonoid mantle could not serve the same purposes as in coleoids because of the external conch. The mantle secretes the mineralised hardparts (ectocochleate or endocochleate) in most cephalopods, except for Argonauta. Klug et al. (2008) proposed that the mantle musculature in ammonoids enabled the animal to move its soft parts within the body chamber. Jacobs & Landman (1993) suggested that the mantle played an active role in swimming. This assumption would support a moderately thick mantle with the potential to be fossilised, which has yet to be reported. The homologisation of other muscles would require soft tissue preservation.
- Did ammonoids have a collar like coleoids? Miro-(3)nenko (2015b) found a lateral soft tissue attachment site close to the aperture and suggested that the collar and funnel-locking apparatus attached at this site. The soft tissues were presumably attached to the body chamber wall anteriorly and posteriorly. The presence of a nuchal and funnel cartilage in Nautilus and Sepia implies that these were also present in ammonoids. If we accept the intermediate position of ammonoids between nautilids and coleoids with respect to locomotory abilities, we can assume that the funnel was somewhat stiff and could be locked firmly near the aperture to maximise the thrust of the hyponomic water jet. Although fossil remains of the nuchal cartilage have been reported from coleoids (Klug et al., 2016), they have not been found in ammonoids.

We conclude that ammonoids likely had paired cephalic and hyponome retractor muscles, a ventral muscle, and mantle musculature. Since ammonoid muscles are not preserved well enough (only a few doubtful remains), homologisation of ammonoid muscles and their attachment sites with those of coleoids and nautilids remains uncertain. Conch morphology of heteromorphs and the likely arrangements of muscles in their body chambers suggest that their locomotory abilities were limited compared to most modern coleoids because of the indirect action of the main muscles. Efficiency of the muscle system and the locomotory apparatus probably improved towards the end of their lives, which is achieved through the commonly widened body chamber and the more horizontal orientation of the adult aperture. This ontogenetic change in orientation allowed the approximate horizontal alignment of the jet with the centre of mass (e.g. Klug, 2001; Klug & Korn, 2004).

# (3) Ink sac

There are four categories of colour or light display in animals: (*i*) pigments, (*ii*) bioluminescence, (*iii*) structural colours, and (*iv*) liquid crystals. While the ink of modern coleoids is made of the pigment melanin, coleoids also evolved bioluminescence such as in the photophore of *Spirula spirula*. Some cephalopod light organs are also situated within the ink sac, for example in *Sepiola atlantica* (Herring *et al.*, 1981). Structural colour is present as mirrors in photophores composed of collagen fibres forming a multilayer reflector e.g. in *Selenoteuthis, Abralia*, or *Enoploteuthis* (Parker, 2000). Reports on fossilised colour mostly refer to the presence of pigments in shells or the ink sac (e.g. Roy *et al.*, 2020).

Melanin macromolecules are classified into eumelanins (black) that contain nitrogen and pheomelanins (broad colour range: yellow-red-brownish) containing sulfur (Schäfer, 2013). Melanins are stored in melanosomes, specific cell organelles of pigment cells that share the size and shape of bacteria (Lindgren *et al.*, 2012). Identification of melanin based on structural information can be misleading. In addition, the presence of melanin in soft tissues such as visual systems (Schäfer, 2013), liver (Scalia *et al.*, 1990), or others (Wakamatsu & Ito, 2002) complicates the recognition of ink in fossil cephalopods.

Reports of ink sacs in ammonoids by Lehmann (1967) for Eleganticeras, Mathur (1996) for Eopsiloceras, and Wetzel (1969) for Bochianites have been discarded by subsequent researchers (Wippich & Lehmann, 2004; Klug & Lehmann, 2015). Doguzhaeva et al. (2004) interpreted bituminous matter in flattened ammonoid body chambers of Austrachyceras as ink sacs. This interpretation is rejected here because modern ectocochleate cephalopods lack an ink sac and melanin occurs in other ammonoid structures such as the black layer (Klug et al., 2004). Unequivocal evidence for fossil ink and ink sacs are common in fossil coleoids from the Carnian Austrian Rheingraben Shale, the German Posidonia Shale (Toarcian), German plattenkalks (Kimmeridgian-Tithonian), and Lebanese plattenkalks (Cenomanian) as summarised by Schäfer (2013), but are absent in co-occurring ammonoids. Raman spectroscopy revealed the presence of the typical melanin spectra, revealing the effect of the carbonate matrix or the presence of iron on these spectra (Schäfer, 2013). This method is recommended to test for the presence of ink and related structures in heteromorphs (see Section II.5).

# (4) Digestive tract

Fossil remains of the digestive tract (except the buccal mass; Section II.1; Fig. 1B, C) have been documented from the heteromorphs *Allocrioceras* (Wippich & Lehmann, 2004) and *Sciponoceras* (Klug *et al.*, 2012; Klug & Lehmann, 2015). In both cases, flattened specimens with dissolved conchs preserve organic remains of crop and stomach. In *Allocrioceras* (Wippich & Lehmann, 2004) from the Cenomanian of Lebanon, the remains of the digestive tract lie far behind the buccal mass, suggesting that it is the stomach and not the crop. In

6

the case of *Sciponoceras* from the Cenomanian–Turonian boundary in Germany, carbonised impressions show details of the digestive tract (Klug *et al.*, 2012; Klug & Lehmann, 2015). It begins with the oesophagus, which was identified based on its elongate shape and its spatial association with the buccal mass. Posteriorly, the digestive tract displays a swelling, which probably represents the elongate crop, which is known to be large in cephalopods. The elongate crop in *Sciponoceras* is likely linked with the long body chamber in baculitids. A third, further posteriorly situated elongate structure found in *Sciponoceras* was interpreted as the stomach by Klug *et al.* (2012).

#### (5) Shell colour patterns

Shell colour patterns in molluscs can be the result of pigments or of structural colour (see Section II.3). Identification of true colour patterns including bands and spots is complicated by the existence of false colour patterns, which often run parallel to growth lines and shell thickening. Klug *et al.* (2012) reported on false colour patterns, which are related to growth halts (megastriae) accompanied by faint ribs and the secretion of melanin along transverse stripes (parallel to former apertures). Muscle attachment structures can also result in dark patches mimicking colour patterns regarded herein as pseudo colour patterns.

The oldest true colour patterns in ammonoids were described from a monomorph from the Early Triassic Crittenden Springs Lagerstätte (Mapes & Sneck, 1987), although there are reports of colour patterns for Palaeozoic nautiloids (Manda & Turek, 2009a,b, 2015) and one Devonian ammonoid (Ebbighausen et al., 2007). In mollusc shells, polyenes like carotenoids represent most shell pigments as outlined by Hedegaard, Bardeau & Chateigner (2006) and Barnard & de Waal (2006) using in situ Raman spectroscopy. Mapes & Larson (2015) reported true colour patterns from *Hoplosca*phites nicolletii and H. reesidei. In both species, longitudinal iridescent bands are preserved in nacre. This colour pattern is a structural colour with multilayer reflectors, where the nanometer thick nacre tablets fulfill the Bragg condition for diffraction. Bragg diffraction by a crystal lattice occurs when radiation (e.g. X-rays or light) with a wavelength comparable to atomic spacing is scattered from the lattice plane undergoing constructive interference (Bragg & Bragg, 1913). These structural colours are comparable to the colours of butterfly wings, gold bugs, polychaetes, and fish (Parker, 2000; Parker & Martini, 2006). Based on transmission electron microscopy analyses, Snow et al. (2004) described a new type of structural colour of nacre, the edge-band structure, which produces interference colours. These are characteristic for different widths of the edge-band structure ranging from silver tones (74 nm) to creams (80 nm) to yellow and gold (90 nm) in bivalve pearls. The same phenomenon could be responsible for structural colours in ammonoids (Keupp, 2005; Mapes & Larson, 2015). Keupp (2005) suggested that spiral bands resulted from original pigment-based colour patterns in the outer prismatic layer. It is noteworthy that

the polyene pigments in modern *Nautilus* are restricted to the outer prismatic layer (Fig. 2). These colour patterns can be traced in the uppermost part of the underlying nacreous layer due to minute differences in ultrastructure. This is important because most ammonoids lack a preserved outer prismatic layer. For example, spot patterns in Jurassic amaltheid ammonoids (Schindewolf, 1928, 1931) are visible after the dark (pyrite) spots are lost. Mironenko (2015*a*) reported on remnants of radial pigment-based colour patterns coinciding with temporary apertures, representing an example of false colour patterns.

Externally shelled (ectocochleate) cephalopods with longitudinal bands fall into the planktic-vertical migrant life habit. By contrast, spiral structural colour patterns, like in Quenstedtoceras, have been suggested to indicate a potential demersal life habit (Keupp, 2005). Relationships between conch form, biofacies, and colour patterns have been discussed for broad longitudinal colour patterns on orthocone Palaeozoic nautiloids (Manda & Turek, 2009b). Turek & Manda (2011) described zig-zag or wave-like transverse colour patterns of the cyrtoconic barrandeocerids Peismoceras and Phragmoceras as well as the oncocerids Octameroceras and Pentameroceras. Manda & Turek (2009a) figured a similar zig-zag or wavelike transverse colour pattern for the cyrtoconic Silurian oncocerid Euryrizocerina, which was likely demersal. A marked polymorphism in colour patterns has been described for modern Nautilus (Ward et al., 1977), Quenstedtoceras (Keupp, 2005), and the Silurian nautiloid Phragmoceras (Turek & Manda, 2011) suggesting a camouflage function. In this regard, the suggestion by Balinski (2010) that marine invertebrates that exhibit colour patterns usually live no deeper than 200 m (photic zone) is convincing.

# **III. BUOYANCY AND LOCOMOTION**

The bizarre morphology of many heteromorphs invites speculation on the function of these convoluted conchs, which are often considered to be poor swimmers that evolved from more streamlined monomorphs (Jacobs, Landman & Chamberlain, 1994; Monks & Young, 1998; Mikhailova & Baraboschkin, 2009). Functional morphological work has focused on buoyancy and hydrostatics to determine what life habits, typically adult, heteromorph conch shapes might have permitted. It is widely accepted that most ectocochleate cephalopods were nearly neutrally buoyant during life regardless of conch shape or ontogeny. This was controlled by adding fluid to a positively buoyant conch or counteracting slightly negative buoyancy through swimming (Denton & Gilpin-Brown, 1966; Klinger, 1981; Lukeneder, 2012; Hoffmann et al., 2015; Lemanis et al., 2015; Tajika et al., 2015; Peterman, Barton & Yacobucci, 2019a; Peterman et al., 2020a,b). Thus, neutral buoyancy is usually assumed for hydrostatic analyses, although some authors have proposed a mobile benthic to nektobenthic life habit for some heteromorphs (e.g. Wiedmann, 1973b;



**Fig. 2.** Raman image showing the distribution of aragonite (A) and polyenes (B) in the shell of modern *Nautilus pompilius*. Shell colouration, i.e. distribution of polyenes within the shell, is limited to the outer prismatic layer.

Kakabadze & Sharikadze, 1993). These analyses can utilise both physical and virtual models.

## (1) Physical models

Physical models include the construction of a physical replica of the conch that is immersed in fluid. Reyment (1973) was among the first to use physical models to examine static conch orientation, although these experiments were designed to understand *bost-mortem* drift rather than life orientation, hence soft tissue was not considered. To determine life orientation, differentiation between phragmocone and body chamber densities must be replicated to reconstruct the positions of the centres of volume (buoyancy) and mass (gravity). Ward (1976) used microcrystalline sculpting wax to create models of the heteromorphs Glyptoxoceras subcompressum, Didymoceras elongatum, Ryugasella ryugasensis, Pseudoxybeloceras nanaimoense, Baculites inornatus, and B. anceps pacificus. Density differences were achieved by adding carborundum (silicon carbide), metal powder, and lead or solder strips to the wax. G. subcompressum likely had the most significant changes in aperture orientation in early ontogeny during a switch from orthoconic to torticonic to gyroconic coiling with less variation in aperture orientation in the gyroconic stage. D. elongatum showed a stable aperture orientation during the growth of the torticonic conch with the final growth stage showing a slight upwards turn of the aperture. The orthoconic B. inornatus, B. anceps pacificus, and ancylocone R. ryugasensis had a vertical conch orientation with the aperture directed downwards. P. nanaimoense with its ancylocone conch showed the greatest variation of orientation through ontogeny with the aperture changing by up to 180°, similar to the hamiticone Dissimilites that was investigated virtually (Lukeneder, 2012). A vertical orientation of orthoconic heteromorphs is a common result in both physical and virtual models (e.g. Trueman, 1941; Westermann, 1977; Peterman et al., 2019a,b). A flooded apex of the phragmocone, however, might have allowed the animals to achieve a more horizontal orientation temporarily. This hypothesis was tested by Westermann (2013) using models of Baculites composed of plexiglass and styrofoam with iron weights used to simulate different weight distributions. Westermann (2013) confirmed the possibility of such conchs achieving a roughly horizontal orientation and proposed a potential ontogenetic shift from a vertical to a subvertical conch orientation following the growth of conch curvature and re-flooding of parts of the phragmocone. Peterman et al. (2019b) simulated an apically flooded Baculites that was not able to deviate from a vertical orientation while remaining neutrally buoyant. Experiments on physical models with the same hydrostatic properties as their virtual counterparts support a stable vertical posture. The models represent density-corrected, neutrally buoyant three-dimensional prints of reconstructed cephalopod conchs (Peterman et al., 2019a,b, 2020a). These weighted models (Fig. 3) allow the approximate analysis of the restoring moment and hydrodynamic drag during rotational and translational movement. Changes in conch orientation

during evolution from orthocones to early ammonoids were investigated by balancing sculpted models of the whole conch and the isolated body chamber to determine the relative positions of the centres of mass and buoyancy (Klug & Korn, 2004). They found an evolutionary shift from the aperture horizontally pointing downwards (Bactritida) *via* oblique apertures (early heteromorphs) to a near horizontal aperture facing upwards (derived monomorphs), which implies an increase in swimming velocity and manoeuvrability.

# (2) Virtual models

Virtual models include mathematical models and simulated conchs, either generated ex nihilo or from tomographic data (Hoffmann et al., 2014; Naglik et al., 2015; Lemanis, Zachow & Hoffmann, 2016; Naglik, Rikhtegar & Klug, 2016; Hebdon, Ritterbush & Choi, 2020). Trueman (1941) first attempted to calculate the buoyancy and hydrostatic orientation of several heteromorph conchs, taking the body chamber length versus total conch length into account. Planispiral to gyrocone Crioceras fissicostatum, C. duvali, and C. mulsanti were calculated with a sub-vertical aperture orientation, whereas the planispiral Macroscaphites yvani, Scaphites aequalis, and *Oecoptychius* sp. were calculated with a near-horizontal aperture that pointed upwards. Trueman (1941) and later authors (e.g. Klinger, 1981; Westermann, 1996; Peterman et al., 2020a) noted that the uncoiling of the conch has the tendency to increase the distance between the centre of buoyancy and the centre of mass, thereby increasing the conch's hydrodynamic stability (its tendency to resist changes in orientation). Tanabe (1975) calculated the buoyancy for Otoscaphites by volume approximations based on coiled conical geometries and the equations of Raup (1973). Otoscaphites had a negative buoyancy that was interpreted as a shift through the group's evolutionary history from a benthic to a nektoplanktic habitat. Ward & Westermann (1977) calculated the buoyancy of the vermicone Nipponites occidentalis based on conch length, radius, cross-sectional area, and several corrective factors to account for ornamentation, septa, and the siphuncle. They interpreted N. occidentalis as being planktic due to its near-neutral buoyancy, lack of hydrodynamic streamlining or perceived adaptations to a benthic life habit (shell thickening, reduction in sutural complexity). The assumption of neutral buoyancy has a strong impact on reconstructed orientations. This impact was shown for different heteromorphs with both neutral and negative buoyancy (Okamoto, 1988b; Okamoto & Shibata, 1997; Higashiura & Okamoto, 2012). On the basis of simulated conchs, Okamoto argued for a nektobenthic life habit, in some cases with the conch occasionally resting on the sea floor like the torticone Eubostrychoceras muramotoi, the ancylocone Polyptychoceras pseudogaultinum, and torticone nostoceratids (Okamoto, 1988b; Okamoto & Shibata, 1997; Higashiura & Okamoto, 2012). But he agreed with Ward & Westermann (1977) that Nipponites had a near-neutral buoyancy and a planktic life habit (Okamoto, 1988a).



**Fig. 3.** Neutrally buoyant physical experiments on scaphitid heteromorph ammonoids. (A) Virtual model with complex internal geometry. (B) Modified virtual model for 3D printing. Bismuth counterweight corrects for differences in mass and stability between A and B. (C) 3D printed model showing counterweight and a control valve in case of flooding. (D) Neutrally buoyant model with proper hydrostastics and tracking points for hydrodynamic analyses. From Peterman *et al.* (2020*a*).

Olivero & Zinsmeister (1989) calculated a positive buovancy and near-horizontal upwards aperture orientation for the heteromorph Diplomoceras maximum. Diplomoceras is a hamiticone (paperclip-like ancylocone subtype) heteromorph similar in morphology to the proposedly negatively buoyant Polyptychoceras (Okamoto & Shibata, 1997). The role of the U-shaped body chamber of some heteromorphs was tested by Kaplan (2002) who abstracted the complex conch shapes into simpler geometric forms (e.g. cones, cylinders, tori) to calculate volumes, surface areas, and centres of mass and volume. Kaplan (2002) also took into account the effect of partial phragmocone refilling and alterations of the centre of mass of the soft body due to movement within the body chamber (Monks & Young, 1998). Kaplan (2002) found that only heteroconic (combination of torticone and ancylocone) conchs could consistently attain an orientation that would allow them to feed on benthos; scaphiticones and praviticones (a combination of planispiral and ancylocone) showed limited access to benthos through manipulation of the fill fraction of the phragmocone, while ancylocones and hamiticones showed no easy access to benthic prey regardless of

orientation modification. This analysis challenged the idea that the evolution of the U-shaped body chamber was an adaptation for a benthic life habit. Landman *et al.* (2012*a*) agreed with this interpretation by arguing for a more passive, filter-feeding strategy for *Scaphites*.

Heteromorphs with a U-shaped body chamber (nostocones, scaphiticones, ancylocones; Fig. 4) are more stable than modern Nautilus and are unlikely to be able to substantially modify their orientation by active swimming locomotion by jet propulsion (Peterman et al., 2020a,b). The Ushaped body chamber distributes organismal mass away from the centre of buoyancy, while maintaining an upwardfacing posture (as suggested by Trueman, 1941; Klinger, 1981; Westermann, 1996). Horizontal alignment of the hyponome with the centres of rotation, such as in ancylocones, suggests that more energy would be transmitted to translational movement with minimal rocking, i.e. these morphotypes are well suited for backwards horizontal swimming at maturity. Hydrodynamic efficiency was investigated for various scaphiticones (Peterman et al., 2020a) and an ancylocone (Peterman et al., 2020d). The uncoiled shape increases



**Fig. 4.** Virtual hydrostatic models of heteromorphs with recurved body chambers at maturity. (A) *Didymoceras nebrascense* (Peterman *et al.*, 2020*b*). (B) *Audouliceras renauxianum* (Peterman *et al.*, 2020*d*). (C) *Hoploscaphites crassus* microconch (Peterman *et al.*, 2020*a*). Tip of upper yellow cone, centre of buoyancy; tip of lower yellow cone, centre of mass. Scale bars = 3 cm.

drag, but with *Nautilus*-like thrust values they were able to move horizontally backwards at velocities similar to *Nautilus* (when normalised by mass). Coleoid-like thrusts would have allowed them to surpass the velocities of similarly sized *Nautilus*. These calculations depend on the largely unknown ammonoid soft body morphology (see Section II). Thus, it remains unclear whether they are realistic. Aside from these open questions, the results of these studies contrast with the interpretation of such heteromorphs as being confined to benthic habitats and the interpretation of limited horizontal mobility (Westermann, 1996).

The adult change in coiling (U-shaped body chamber) brought the hyponome closer to the level of the centre of mass. This implies improved swimming capabilities. Klug (2001) and Klug & Korn (2004) found this phenomenon in several ammonoid clades and suggested that improved swimming capabilities represent selective advantages during reproduction particularly for the choice of mating partners and spawning grounds. Sexual selection is a strong evolutionary agent and might be the main driver behind the convergent evolution of more horizontally oriented apertures in adult conch forms in many ammonoid clades, including numerous heteromorphs.

# **IV. ECOLOGICAL INTERACTIONS**

### (1) Predators

Abnormal shell growth in modern and fossil molluscs, including ammonoids, is often the result of sublethal injuries, which may inform on predator–prey relationships (Keupp, 2012; Hoffmann & Keupp, 2015). Like modern cephalopods, ammonoids were an important part of marine food webs and served as prey for vertebrates and invertebrates. For food-web reconstructions, digestichnia (Vallon, 2012), including stomach contents, cololites, coprolites, regurgitalites, and palaeopathologies (Keupp, 2012) have been used. Since digestichnia including heteromorph remains were reviewed by Hoffmann *et al.* (2020) we herein focus on palaeopathologies. Various heteromorphs bear large (often hollow) spines which might have had a protective function against predators or encrusters (Klinger, 1981; Cecca, 1997) but other authors have speculated that these spines were too fragile and might have had other functions such as stabilizing the shell in the water column (Klinger, 1981; Ifrim, Bengtson & Schweigert, 2018).

Specific reactions of the prey often result in a characteristic abnormal growth of the repaired shell (symptoms). Assumptions about the ammonoid life habit including habitat depth and proximity to the seafloor are possible (Hoffmann & Keupp, 2015). However, sublethal injuries in cephalopods can be inflicted not only by predators, but also by the same species such as in *Nautilus* during mating (Ward, 1987) or by dangerous prey such as crustaceans [e.g. see Ward (1981) for *Nautilus* and Landman & Waage (1986) for scaphitids].

Pathologies have been primarily reported for Jurassic and Cretaceous heteromorphs (Table S2) but were also known from Devonian heteromorphs, which suggest damage caused by other cephalopods (Klug, 2007). The oldest known injured Mesozoic heteromorph is the Late Bajocian *Spiroceras* (Bayer, 1970: plate 8, Fig. 9; Dietl, 1978: Fig. 6f). Here, we document palaeopathologies for the Hauterivian *Aegocrioceras raricostatum* (Fig. 5B, G), Aptian *Proaustraliceras tuberculatum* (Fig. 5D), Albian *Pictetia astieriana* (Fig. 5A), Aptian *Ptychoceras minimum* (Fig. 5C, E), and *Ptychoceras rengarteni* (Fig. 5F).

Among Cretaceous heteromorphs, palaeopathologies are common and have been mostly reported for scaphitids (Landman & Waage, 1986; Hengsbach, 1996; Larson, 2002; Landman *et al.*, 2010*b*, 2012*a*, 2019; Keupp, 2012;



Fig. 5. Palaeopathologies of heteromorphs. (A) *Pictetia asteriana* (Early Albian, Madagascar) with a band-slit pathology potentially caused by a benthic crustacean suggesting a demersal life habit of the ammonoid. Private collection of Wolfgang Grulke (Dorset, UK). (B) *Aegocrioceras raricostatum* (Hauterivian, NW-Germany) with a bulbous shell breakage. (C) *Ptychoceras minimum* (Late Aptian, Krasnodar region, Russia). Geological institute RAS, No. GIN MPC 5/2. Arrow indicates a healed sublethal injury on the second shaft of the conch. Post-traumatic inflation indicates damage of the shell-secreting mantle edge. (D) *Proaustraliceras tuberculatum* (Early Aptian, Ulyanovsk region, Russia). Private collection of Dmitry Vinogradov (Moscow), specimen No. 438. Arrow indicates a healed sublethal injury on the dorsal side of the conch likely produced by durophagous fish. (E) *Ptychoceras minimum* (Late Aptian, Krasnodar region, Russia). Geological institute RAS, No. GIN MPC 5/5. Feather-like wrinkles on the dorsal surface of the second shaft that start at the point of truncation of the first shaft. (F) *Ptychoceras reingarteni* (Late Aptian, Krasnodar region, Russia). Geological institute RAS, No. GIN MPC 5/1. Arrows mark healed sublethal injuries on the second shaft of the conch. (G) *Aegocrioceras* sp. body chamber (Hauterivian, NW-Germany) with a band-slit.

Biological Reviews (2021) 000-000 © 2020 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Hoffmann & Keupp, 2015). Typically, injuries affected the margin of temporary apertures and usually occur in early ontogenetic stages (coiled conch part). Severe injuries of the shell-secreting mantle epithelium sometimes resulted in the disappearance of ventral tubercles (Hoffmann & Keupp, 2015: Fig. 21.8d). Crustaceans, fish, marine reptiles, coleoids, ammonoids, and nautiloids were discussed as potential producers of such damage (Landman & Waage, 1986; Hengsbach, 1996; Larson, 2002; Landman *et al.*, 2010*b*; Keupp, 2012; Hoffmann & Keupp, 2015).

Orthoconic baculitids display palaeopathologies on their apertural edges of different growth stages (Klinger & Kennedy, 2001; Henderson, Kennedy & Cobban, 2002; Kennedy, Cobban & Klinger, 2002*a*). In some cases, the complete aperture was fragmented, presumably by pycnodontid fish (Kennedy *et al.*, 2002*a*: plate 8, Fig. 9) or the conch had long and narrow V-shaped injuries on both flanks (Kennedy *et al.*, 2002*a*: plate 8, Figs. 2–4, 6–8). For the latter, Kennedy *et al.* (2002*a*) suggested a coleoid attack, but Keupp (2012) argued for a benthic crustacean as the predator.

Palaeopathologies may help reconstructing the soft body organisation of the Aptian Ptychoceras. Doguzhaeva & Mutvei (1989, 1993, 2015) argued that Ptychoceras had an internal shell. Kakabadze & Sharikadze (1991, 1993) and Keupp (2012) rejected that interpretation based on similarities of Ptychoceras palaeopathologies with injuries found in other monomorph and heteromorph ammonoids. Injured and repaired temporal apertures (forma aegra substructa) of Ptychoceras caused a strong distortion of the subsequent shaft, indicating severe damage of the mantle edge (Fig. 5C, F). A healed ventral injury located behind the terminal aperture (forma aegra fenestra sensu Keupp, 2006) was found in another Ptychoceras. In all cases, the healed shell is attached to the inner surface of the preserved pre-traumatic conch wall like in other ammonoids and modern Nautilus with repaired injuries. No additional layers were secreted on top of the outer prismatic layer, as expected for an internal shell.

Truncation of shell is restricted to the first shaft in Ptychoceras (Doguzhaeva & Mutvei, 1989, 1993, 2015). Truncation also occurs in Palaeozoic nautiloids (e.g. Turek & Manda, 2012) and coleoids (Doguzhaeva, Mapes & Mutvei, 2002). Doguzhaeva & Mutvei (1989) suggested that the truncation in Ptychoceras occurred due to muscular action of the ammonoid body, during the formation of the second shaft. Kakabadze & Sharikadze (1993) assumed that the truncation could have occurred randomly during the formation of the first to the beginning of the second shaft. Reported fragments preserved in the partially broken phragmocone chambers near the point of truncation (Doguzhaeva & Mutvei, 1989, pl. 9, 10) support the hypothesis of Doguzhaeva & Mutvei (1989). The feather-like structure (Fig. 5E) implies the presence of the shell-secreting mantle edge and periostracum in Ptychoceras, which disproves the endocochleate hypothesis for this ammonoid.

Palaeopathologies of heteromorphs include various shell abnormalities and deformed suture lines. Pseudoinversion of suture lines refers to pointed saddles and rounded lobes. Pseudoinversion has been reported for the Late Cretaceous heteromorphs Glyptoxoceras (Westermann, 1975; Ward & Westermann, 1976) and Baculites (Henderson et al., 2002). Rogov (2018) found this in several Jurassic and Cretaceous monomorphs. Another internal abnormality of the ammonoid conch is sutural asymmetry relative to the venter, while the conch wall is unaffected [forma aegra juxtalobata (Landman & Waage, 1986; Keupp, 2012)]. In this case, the siphuncular tube moved out of its ventral central position. This type of palaeopathology occurs in both heteromorphs and monomorphs (Keupp, 2012). However, the question of what causes these pathologies remains unanswered. Various authors speculated that the asymmetries were caused either by the asymmetric development of reproductive glands due to parasites or due to 'epithelial diseases' (Keupp, 2012; De Baets et al., 2015a). 'Morton's syndrome' also affected conch symmetry, where the asymmetry is unrelated to external injuries and occurs in 3-6% of scaphitids from South Dakota (Landman & Waage, 1986). This phenomenon is widespread in keeled monomorphs, such as Jurassic Graphoceras and Pleuroceras (Morton, 1983; Keupp, 2012). As in many other cases of abnormalities with unclear aetiology, this asymmetry has been explained by parasitic infestation (Morton, 1983; De Baets, Keupp & Klug, 2015b), although traces of parasites have not been documented in asymmetric conchs.

# (2) Prey

Reports of fossil cephalopod stomach contents are rare (Table S3). Planktotrophy was suggested for ammonoids that have aptychus-type, calcified lower jaws (Kruta et al., 2011, 2015; Tanabe, 2011; Tanabe et al., 2015a; Keupp et al., 2016a). This is supported by finds of stomach contents associated with a radula in Baculites (Kruta et al., 2011) and Allocrioceras (Wippich & Lehmann, 2004), a pelagic, aperture-upwards drifter that probably fed on echinoderms (comatulid crinoids or ophiuroids; Fig. 6). Diet remains from Jurassic and Triassic monocomprise foraminifera, ostracoda, decapod morphs crustacean, bivalves, aptychi, and crinoid hardparts (e.g. Saccocoma) in Neochetoceras and corroborate planktotrophy in ammonoids (Wippich & Lehmann, 2004; Ritterbush et al., 2014; Klug & Lehmann, 2015). Interestingly, the modern coleoid Japetella shares radular tooth morphology with some Jurassic ammonoids (Kruta et al., 2011; Keupp et al., 2016a), which have been regarded as microphagous planktotrophs.

Jurassic–Cretaceous heteromorphs are widely accepted as microphagous zoo-planktotrophic suspension feeders (Nesis, 1986, 2005; Kruta *et al.*, 2011; Tajika, Nützel & Klug, 2018). Many heteromorphs reached large sizes (e.g. *Baculites grandis* with a conch length of 250 cm; N. Larson, personal communication) and are considered passive drifters with low manoeuvrability (Westermann, 1996; Mikhailova & Baraboschkin, 2009). Without direct evidence, Nesis (1986, 2005) suggested the presence of membranes between the arms or a special mucus web to collect planktic prey out of the water column. Heteromorphs likely lived in the water column (Cecca, 1997; Guex, 2006), i.e. with direct access to



**Fig. 6.** Stomach content of *Allocrioceras* (specimen shown in Wippich & Lehmann, 2004). (A) Image taken under daylight. (B) Same specimen imaged under ultraviolet light showing preserved soft parts such as the siphuncle and remnants of the stomach. (C) Close up of assumed but unidentifiable stomach remains. (D) Stomach remains of planktic comatolids (crinoids). Scale bars: A and B = 5 mm, C and D = 0.5 mm.

meso- and microplankton. Based on the reconstructed swimming position for heteromorphs with U-shaped body chambers in which the aperture pointed upwards (Kaplan, 2002), it is assumed that their diet was composed of microscopic particles or organisms (Kruta et al., 2011; Keupp, 2012; Ritterbush et al., 2014; Klug & Lehmann, 2015; Keupp et al., 2016b). Remarkably, the jaw morphology of modern coleoids does not entirely relate to diet (Clarke & Maddock, 1988). Jaw morphology only reflects the maximum size of prev and dictates the area for the insertion of mandibular muscles and hence its mass and biting force (Kear, 1994). All Cretaceous heteromorphs, except the crioceratids, share an aptychus-type lower jaw (Section II.1.a). The aptychus is potentially not involved in determining prev size but prev type. Accordingly, both the Crioceratidae with an anaptychus and other aptychus-bearing Cretaceous heteromorphs may differ in their food preferences.

All modern cephalopods are carnivores - ranging from active predators to more passive forms like Vampyroteuthis (Norman, 2000; Golikov et al., 2019). Hanlon & Messenger (2018) documented cannibalism for every known species of modern coleoids except Sepioteuthis sepoidea. The occurrence of cannibalism appears to be related to poor food supply (Ennis & Collins, 1979). Research on stomach contents in modern cephalopods is difficult because the jaws reduce the prey to unidentifiable pieces. Hardparts needed for the identification of prey organisms are often regurgitated, leading to an underestimation of soft-bodied prey in estimations of diet (Rodhouse & Nigmatullin, 1996). This is because the oesophagus diameter is limited because it passes through the brain. This likely also applied to most extinct neocephalopod groups such as ammonoids (Engeser, 1996; Klug et al., 2016, 2019). Modern cephalopod stomachs often contain skeletal parts of fish, crustaceans, and cephalopods (even from the same species). A shift of food resources during ontogeny is evident. The juveniles of most modern cephalopods feed on crustaceans and shift towards larger fish and other cephalopods later in ontogeny (Rodhouse & Nigmatullin, 1996). Only a few coleoids seem to be specialists; the majority appear to be non-selective in their choice of prey [e.g. Mather (1993) for observations on octopuses]. Rodhouse & Nigmatullin (1996) observed that squid and cuttlefish preying on pelagic crustaceans ingest the exoskeleton, whereas octopuses paralyse their prey with cephalotoxin, digest only the flesh and reject the exoskeleton. This is relevant for the reconstruction of predator-prey relationships in heteromorphs. This difference in behaviour might be related to the need to form a mineralised internal skeleton or other unknown factors. Larson (2002) speculated on cannibalism in scaphitids. Based on their high demand for calcium, Larson (2002) postulated that ammonoids fed on crustaceans, echinoids, molluscs, and possibly fish.

# (3) Epizoa, parasites, and commensalism

Syn vivo encrustations, i.e. epizoa (in contrast to *post-mortem* encrustation of dead shells – epicole; see Davis, Mapes &

Klofak, 1999), provide a unique source for palaeoecological reconstructions (Lukeneder, 2008). Some cases have been attributed to parasitism, while others might indicate *syn vivo* epizoism, which ranges from associations that might have been detrimental to both or beneficial for one or both organisms.

Four criteria have been applied to identify cases of syn vivo associations of epizoans with ammonoid conchs (see Keupp, 2012). (i) Associations found on both flanks, but not at the apertural region mostly refer to ectoparasites or epizoans [see exceptions in Mironenko (2016) and Landman, Slattery & Harries (2016b)]; in the case of disease or endoparasitism, no external injuries are visible, but pathologies develop within soft tissues. (ii) The growth of associated organisms stops precisely at a whorl or is otherwise outpaced by the conch growth of the cephalopod. (iii) Associated organisms show a growth direction consistent with shape and life position of the cephalopod and may follow changes in growth direction of the host. (iv) The cephalopod reacts to its epizoans by altering its conch form such as non-planispiral coiling, shortening of body chamber (Klug et al., 2004), and other pathologies.

Cases of conch deformation or deviation from normal planispiral coiling caused by encrusters, which are still preserved, provide incontrovertible evidence for syn vivo encrustation in ammonoids (Ramming et al., 2018). Syn vivo encrustations may result in monomorphs resembling heteromorphs (Checa, Okamoto & Keupp, 2002). Patterns related to criteria 1 and 3 are the only indicators useful to infer syn vivo encrustation when host growth has stopped, but could potentially develop in *post-mortem* sclerobiont attachment during necroplanktic drift (Stilkerich, Smrecak & De Baets, 2017). However, marked *post-mortem* drift is unlikely in the case of heavy encrustation and smaller conchs (Yacobucci, 2018; Wani et al. 2005). Furthermore, the conch might change orientation during *post-mortem* drift and due to added weight by epicoles. The orientation and position of encrusters during life could also support the idea that heteromorphs were nektoplanktic or at least neither demersal nor benthic.

Encrustation by cirripedes (Hauschke, Schöllmann & Keupp, 2011), brachiopods (Landman *et al.*, 2016*b*), and bivalves (Misaki *et al.*, 2014) have been reported on Cretaceous heteromorphs. Misaki *et al.* (2014) found anomiid bivalves on both sides of *Pravitoceras* conchs, suggesting these are epizoa. These heteromorphs come from mudstones without signs of strong currents or wave-induced transport. Misaki *et al.* (2014) suggested that *Pravitoceras* was neutrally buoyant and could move vertically, thus contradicting the hypothesis of a benthic life habit (Matsumoto *et al.*, 1981*b*).

Syn vivo encrustation of a Palaeozoic Ivoites specimen by hederelloids (?phoronids) caused trochospiral instead of gyrocone coiling (Stilkerich *et al.*, 2017). The pathological specimen survived into adulthood despite multiple encrustations (Stilkerich *et al.*, 2017). If cephalopods reached adulthood showing such deformations, these may not have altered ammonoid health substantially, irrespective of whether such trochospiral coiling was a normal variant or pathological. Regular covariation patterns might relate to structural constraints and may provide information about growth. Highly irregular patterns within the same specimen might indicate a lack of morphogenetic constraints.

Associations between heteromorphs and algae have been suggested repeatedly. Arkhipkin (2014) suggested that *Spiroceras* was associated with macroalgae and that adult life stages of Cretaceous heteromorphs (e.g. scaphitids) clung to macroalgae with their umbilical opening [see also Vašíček & Wiedmann (1994) for Leptoceratoidinae such as *Karsteniceras*]. However, direct evidence for such associations has not been found yet, rendering this idea speculative (Landman *et al.*, 2016*a*). The fossil record of non-calcified macroalgae is sparse; potential biomarkers like sterols may help to identify their presence.

Hatchlings of the trochospiral *Mariella* or orthoconic *Sciponoceras* have been interpreted as semi-sessile based on associations with algal mats (Stinnesbeck, Frey & Zell, 2016). However, this is likely a taphonomic artefact and solid evidence for this life habit is needed because such life habit is unknown in modern cephalopods.

### V. HABITAT RECONSTRUCTION

## (1) Taphonomic controls on facies distributions

The relationship between heteromorphs and facies has been debated due to post-mortem drift. This issue stems from externally shelled cephalopods having phragmocones, which can remain gas-filled after death allowing the conch to float and drift varying distances away from the living animals' habitat [Fig. 7; Revment (1958, 1973, 2008); for alternative perspectives see Wani & Gupta (2015) and Yacobucci (2018)]. However, numerous studies have argued that *post-mortem* drift was rare among ammonoids, and that their fossils closely reflect their life distributions (e.g. Kennedy & Cobban, 1976; Tanabe, 1979; Chamberlain, Ward & Weaver, 1981; Wani et al., 2005; Wani & Gupta, 2015; Yacobucci, 2018). These interpretations are based on the low frequency of encrusters, degree of shell breakage, frequency of preserved jaws in body chambers, size-frequency distribution of conchs, low drift potential of numerous conch morphotypes, and geographic distribution patterns. Kennedy & Cobban (1976) proposed that facies independence and broad geographic ranges as well as distinct facies associations and limited ranges should reflect high and low *post-mortem* drift, respectively. They state that the large numbers of unbroken, well-preserved ammonoids at many localities represent autochthonous assemblages, which cannot be explained by *post-mortem* drift. This is supported by taphonomic and experimental studies of modern nautilid conchs, which revealed that drifted conchs show signs of fragmentation and encrustation (Wani, 2004; Reyment, 2008). Yacobucci (2018) argues that most ammonoid conchs, except for highly inflated monomorphs, were unlikely to undergo long-distance *post-mortem* drift. This study



**Fig. 7.** Potential taphonomic pathways of modern *Nautilus* prior to burial (modified from Maeda & Seilacher, 1996; Mapes *et al.*, 2010*a,b*). *Nautilus* habitat ranges from 20 to 600 m depth; however, most live within a few meters of the seabed. The 'Depth Limit to Surface' is the theoretical limit where an empty conch cannot ascend to the sea surface because hydrostatic pressure forces water into the phragmacone and causes the conch to become negatively buoyant and sink.

also shows that most Cretaceous ammonoids, even those with conch forms conducive to *post-mortem* drift, rarely had substantial biogeographic ranges (i.e. basinwide, intercontinental), which would be expected if they were floating over great distances after death.

Post-mortem drift in heteromorphs has not been considered to the same extent as for monomorphs; the latter being morphologically more like nautilids, which are assumed to be reasonable analogs. However, the few available studies suggest that the impact of *post-mortem* drift on heteromorph spatial distributions is minimal (Tanabe, Obata & Futakami, 1978; Tanabe, 1979; Kawabe, 2003; Reboulet, Giraud, & Proux, 2005; Landman et al., 2010b, 2019; Landman & Klofak, 2012; Misaki et al., 2014; Slattery, Harries & Sandness, 2018). Stable isotopic analysis of heteromorphs and associated benthic faunas provides evidence for limited *post-mortem* drift. These studies reveal that the  $\delta^{18}$ O and  $\delta^{13}$ C composition of scaphitids, baculitids, and nostoceratids more closely match the isotopic composition of associated benthic faunas than known planktic organisms. This has been interpreted as an indication that they were living near where they were collected (Tsujita & Westermann, 1998; He, Kyser & Caldwell, 2005; Landman & Klofak, 2012; Landman et al., 2012b; Sessa et al., 2015).

Berry (2018*a*,*b*) and Landman *et al.* (2019) are among the few studies to suggest that some heteromorph conchs could undergo long-term and/or long-distance *post-mortem* drift. Berry (2018*a*,*b*) utilised changes in both bryozoan zooid size and the direction of growth in colonies encrusting the internal body chambers of *Baculites* and *Scaphites* to suggest that

these heteromorphs experienced long-term *post-mortem* drift. Landman *et al.* (2019) argued that the occurrences of North American *Hoploscaphites* in Europe are best explained by long-distance *post-mortem* drift due to their rarity. However, Machalski *et al.* (2007) suggested that North American *Hoploscaphites* and *Discoscaphites* in Europe are more likely related to immigrant populations rather than *post-mortem* drift due to the greater potential for small cephalopod shells to be buried close to their habitats.

#### (2) Life habit controls on facies distributions

The association of water-column-dwelling ammonoids with a benthic bio- and lithofacies or a lack thereof is likely due to their preferred habitats and positions in the water column (Ziegler, 1967; Kennedy & Cobban, 1976; Batt, 1986, 1989; Westermann, 1996; Lukeneder, 2015). They would have tracked these environmental preferences both spatially and temporally, which in turn would be expressed in the stratigraphic record as changes in faunal occurrences and/or ranges. Environmental changes in the upper water column would be expressed in the stratigraphic record as changes in occurrences and abundances of nektic and planktic organisms (e.g. ammonoids, fish, planktic foraminifera, nannoplankton), while potentially showing no concomitant pattern among benthic organisms, or lithofacies [Soule & Kleppel (1988) and references therein]. Nektic (i.e. actively swimming in the water column), nektoplanktic (i.e. passively floating in the water column), and vertically migrating (i.e. moving vertically through the water column) ammonoids

likely tracked their preferred ecological conditions and food sources through the water column. This would have decoupled them from benthic faunas, environments, and facies, unless their prey was tied to a benthic environment (Westermann, 1996). By contrast, nektobenthic (i.e. living near the sea bottom) ammonoids would have been influenced by the same conditions (e.g. oxygen, turbidity) that controlled the distribution of benthic organisms, which explains the association of many ammonoids with specific benthic bioand/or lithofacies (e.g. Tsujita & Westermann, 1998; Landman et al., 2012b; Slattery et al., 2018). Documenting changes in heteromorph occurrences and abundances across benthic bio- and lithofacies can reveal important details about their preferred habitats, specifically when examined within a sequence stratigraphic framework. Kennedy & Cobban (1976) showed that occurrences of Cretaceous ammonoids, including heteromorphs, rarely exhibit discernable lithofacies patterns. However, they also noted that there are obvious changes in abundances among taxa across lithofacies. Variation in heteromorph abundances has also been documented across benthic biofacies, which are attributed to changes in marine environmental conditions (e.g. oxygen) that are independent of lithofacies (e.g. Lukeneder, 2003, 2004, 2005; Slattery et al., 2018).

Heteromorphs are known from an array of facies spanning tidally influenced littoral to oceanic environments (Fig. 8; Westermann, 1996). Most heteromorphs occur in shallowsubtidal to offshore facies deposited in neritic (i.e. openocean-facing seas) and epeiric seas (i.e. seas covering continental interiors). They are common in continental slope facies, but rare in bathyal, foreshore, and littoral facies (Westermann, 1996). Most heteromorphs preferred epipelagic depths (0–200 m), and for certain taxa, upper mesopelagic depths (200-600 m) due to depth limitations imposed by the strengths of their shells (Hewitt, 1996). Taxa found in oceanic facies were likely living within a few meters of the continental slope and/or in the water column well above the slope and bathyal seafloor at epi- and/or upper mesopelagic depths (Hewitt, 1996; Westermann, 1996). The few examples of heteromorphs in foreshore and littoral facies (e.g. Hoganson & Murphy, 2002) are likely due to post-mortem transport via drift or storms.

Devonian, Triassic, and Jurassic heteromorphs show a preference for deep-subtidal to offshore facies but are rare in shallow-subtidal, slope, and bathyal facies (Fig. 8A; Table S4; Dietl, 1978; Laws, 1982; Chlupáč & Turek, 1983; www.paleodb.org). The rarity of Pre-Cretaceous heteromorphs in shallow-subtidal, slope, and bathyal facies suggests that these ammonoids did not inhabit these environments but were transported into these settings *via* storms or *post-mortem* drift from their epipelagic, deep-subtidal to offshore habitats.

Early Cretaceous heteromorphs preferred deep-subtidal to bathyal facies (Fig. 8B; Table S4). Barragan, Gonzalez-Arreola & Villaseñor (2004) documented distributions of Barremian ammonites in Mexico, which were controlled by water-column oxygenation and the preferred water depth of each species. They suggest that ancylocone heteromorphs were nektic or nektoplanktic based on their abundance in anoxic facies, which indicates a preference for offshore settings (Barragan et al., 2004). Lukeneder (2003, 2004, 2005) suggested that the Barremian ancyloceratid Karsteniceras preferred lowoxygen conditions based on its mass occurrences in dysoxic facies. Marcinowski & Wiedmann (1990) noted that Albian heteromorphs in Poland are restricted to clay- and marlstones rather than sandstones, which suggests that these ammonites preferred offshore facies rather than subtidal facies. Reboulet et al. (2005) studied Albian ammonite occurrences and abundances across Oceanic Anoxic Event 1d in the Vocontian Basin (France) and found that most heteromorphs are associated with offshore neritic to oceanic facies. For example, the baculitid *Lechites* is most abundant in continental-slope facies. The torticones Turrilitoides and Mariella as well as the hamiticones Anisoceras and Hamites are associated with offshore neritic and oceanic facies. Tajika et al. (2017) showed that Cretaceous cephalopod associations of Switzerland, including heteromorphs (e.g. Emericiceras, Mariella), are dominant in deep-subtidal to offshore facies and rare to absent in shallower, carbonate facies. Several studies suggest that bochianitids are deeper-water indicators due to their abundances in limestones and claystones deposited in continental slope facies (>200 m) and absence in neritic as well as epeiric facies (Company, 1987; Reboulet & Atrops, 1997; Baraboschkin & Enson, 2003; Reboulet et al., 2005; Arkadiev, 2008; Lukeneder, 2015).

Late Cretaceous heteromorphs have a preference for shallow-subtidal to offshore facies, but are rare in slope and bathyal facies (Fig. 8C; Table S4). Baculitids are broadly distributed with juveniles being common in well-oxygenated, shallow- to deep-subtidal facies and adults being common in well-oxygenated, deep-subtidal to anoxic, offshore facies (Fig. 9; Tsujita & Westermann, 1998; Kawabe, 2003; Slattery et al., 2018). The earliest juvenile Baculites have been recorded in shallow-subtidal to offshore facies, which indicates that they might have been more facies independent and/or more subject to drift as compared to more mature individuals (Landman & Klofak, 2012; Slattery et al., 2018; N.H. Landman, personal communication; Rowe et al., 2020). The giant baculitid Pseudobaculites is common in subtidal facies but rare in offshore facies (W.A. Cobban, personal communication). Turrilitids, scaphitids, diplomoceratids, and nostoceratids are typically associated with well-oxygenated, subtidal to offshore facies due to their nektobenthic life habit (Fig. 9; Scott, 1940; Kennedy & Cobban, 1976; Tanabe et al., 1978; Tanabe, 1979; Matsumoto et al., 1981a; Batt, 1986, 1989; Tsujita & Westermann, 1998; Kawabe, 2003; Landman et al., 2012b; Slattery et al., 2012, 2018; Olivero & Raffi, 2018; Rowe et al., 2020; J. S. Slattery, personal observations). The scaphitid Worthoceras likely inhabited the middle to upper water column based on their broad distribution in well-oxygenated, subtidal to anoxic, offshore facies (Scott, 1940; Batt, 1986, 1989). Several nostoceratids in North America are common in shallow-subtidal facies but rare to absent in deep-subtidal to offshore facies (Table S4; Fig. 9; Kennedy & Cobban, 1976, 1994;



**Fig. 8.** Heteromorph distributions across marine environments and depth zones during the (A) Devonian, Triassic, and Jurassic, (B) Early Cretaceous, and (C) Late Cretaceous. Based on data from Table S4.

Cobban, 1993; Cobban et al., 1993; Kennedy, Cobban & Scott, 2000a,b). Hamitids and anisoceratids are commonly restricted to well-oxygenated, subtidal facies, however, the hamitid Stomohamites and anisoceratid Allocrioceras have broad distributions ranging from well-oxygenated, subtidal to anoxic, offshore facies (Kennedy & Cobban, 1976; Batt, 1986, 1989). The increase in heteromorph diversity in shallow-subtidal settings during the Late Cretaceous likely reflects an evolutionary shift among Ancyloceratina to shallower-water settings.

# (3) Ecological requirements based on shell geochemistry

Stable isotope proxy systems provide information on habitat depth, depth change through ontogeny, and growth rates of individual monomorphs and heteromorphs (e.g. Moriya *et al.*, 2003; Lukeneder *et al.*, 2010; Fig. 10). Most analyses to date have been focused on baculitids and scaphitids from the Late Cretaceous (He *et al.*, 2005; Landman *et al.*, 2005; Landma

Biological Reviews (2021) 000–000 © 2020 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.



Fig. 9. Shoreface to offshore ammonoid facies and habitat distributions in the late Campanian *Baculites compressus* Biochron (Late Cretaceous) in the Western Interior Seaway. Based on data from: Kennedy & Cobban (1976); Cobban, Kennedy, & Scott (1993); Cobban *et al.* (1993); Larson *et al.* (1997); Landman & Klofak (2012); Landman *et al.* (2012*a*); and Meehan & Landman (2016).

2012*b*). Variation in the oxygen isotope ratio ( $\delta^{18}$ O) reflects changes in temperature or the oxygen isotope ratio of sea water, which often covaries with salinity (Mátyás et al., 1996). Combined temperature and salinity gradients create a variable profile in  $\delta^{18}$ O between surface water and bottom water, which is recorded in shell carbonate precipitated in equilibrium with those waters. Seasonal variation in these parameters can impart sinusoidal variation and therefore a chronometer in the shells and aptychi of heteromorphs (Fatherree, Harries & Quinn, 1998; Kruta, Landman & Cochran, 2014; Ellis & Tobin, 2019), although swimming behaviour and growth rate can complicate these patterns in ammonoids (Linzmeier, 2019). Cephalopods are thought to precipitate shell aragonite in oxygen isotope equilibrium with ambient seawater stable oxygen isotope composition ( $\delta^{18}O_{SW}$ ) and temperature (Landman *et al.*, 1994). Stable carbon isotope ratios ( $\delta^{13}$ C) record a mixture of carbon dominated by dissolved organic carbon from water and minor respired carbon (McConnaughey & Gillikin, 2008). Therefore, the habitat depth of modern cephalopods can be directly inferred from measured carbonate oxygen isotope ratios of their aragonitic shell or calcitic aptychi (Auclair et al., 2004; Lukeneder et al., 2008; Kruta et al., 2014; Lukeneder, 2015; Linzmeier et al., 2016). To interpret habitat depth or growth rate from  $\delta^{18}$ O and  $\delta^{13}$ C of fossils, additional isotopic information derived from co-occurring benthic and planktic organisms is required.

The habitats of Late Cretaceous heteromorphs have been studied using stable isotope analyses. Discoscaphites and Bacu*lites* from Mississippi show  $\delta^{18}$ O values that are more similar to both benthic molluscs and foraminifera than to planktic foraminifera (Sessa et al., 2015). Individuals have consistent  $\delta^{18}$ O through the gerontic whorl, supporting an interpretation of rapid growth and consistently benthic habitat (Ferguson et al., 2019). Analysis of the earliest whorls of Hoploscaphites from South Dakota suggest a benthic embryonic development, planktic hatchlings, and a habitat change after about one whorl (Linzmeier et al., 2018). These data may also suggest seasonally protracted spawning like some modern cephalopods (Rocha, Guerra & González, 2001). Other work spanning multiple Campanian ammonoid zones from the Western Interior Seaway suggests Didymoceras was living in warmer or more brackish water than co-ocurring Scaphites and Baculites (He et al., 2005).

The interpretation of  $\delta^{13}$ C in heteromorphs, like other marine molluscs, reflects the  $\delta^{13}$ C of dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC) (McConnaughey & Gillikin, 2008). In the modern ocean, the  $\delta^{13}$ C varies with changes in the ratio of respiration to photosynthesis and proximity to sources of unusual  $\delta^{13}$ C from DIC (e.g. methane seeps). Analyses of *Baculites* from the Western Interior Seaway (WIS) suggest that some heteromorphs lived on or close to cold seeps throughout their lives and exploited the diverse prey available at the seeps



**Fig. 10.** Habitat depth reconstruction based on oxygen isotope ( $\delta^{18}$ O) values collected from well-preserved, coeval monomorphs, heteromorphs, benthic faunas, and planktic faunas. Modified after (A) Ferguson *et al.* (2019), (B) He *et al.* (2005), (C) Landman *et al.* (2012*b*), (D) Linzmeier *et al.* (2018), (E) Moriya *et al.* (2003), and (F) Sessa *et al.* (2015), VPDB, Vienna Pee Dee belemnite.

(Landman *et al.*, 2018). *Hoploscaphites* and *Didymoceras* also appear to use methane seep habitats both as adults (Landman *et al.*, 2012*b*) and juveniles (Rowe *et al.*, 2020).

The growth rates of *Baculites* have been estimated using stable isotopic methods. Their orthoconic conchs are relatively easy to sample serially. By interpreting the pronounced sinusoidal pattern in  $\delta^{18}$ O, Fatherree *et al.* (1998) inferred a growth rate of 33 cm/year for a subadult *Baculites compressus*. Sampling of other *Baculites* suggest similarly high growth rates if interpreting sinusoidal variability in either  $\delta^{18}$ O or  $\delta^{13}$ C, although there are caveats about geographic differences in both isotope proxies that could reflect migration (Ellis & Tobin, 2019). Future investigation of heteromorph living depths and growth rates using stable isotope methods will yield important information that cannot be gathered from other methods.

# (4) Reproduction

Early ammonoids (Anetoceratinae) have slightly curved embryonic conchs, which are among the largest of all ammonoids (De Baets *et al.*, 2013*a*; De Baets, Landman & Tanabe, 2015*c*). They range from about 6 mm in *Metabactrites* to 5 mm in *Ivoites* to 3.7 mm in *Erbenoceras*. This, together with their small body chamber volume, implies low fecundity (35–500 eggs). De Baets *et al.* (2012) argued that increased coiling and a reduction in embryonic conch size with an increase in adult size affected fecundity. To date, no embryonic conchs of Triassic heteromorphs have been reported (De Baets et al., 2015c; Laptikhovsky, Nikolaeva & Rogov, 2018), but adults are generally small suggesting low fecundity. The size of Spiroceras hatchlings is 0.8 mm (Landman, Tanabe & Shigeta, 1996) and falls within the 95% confidence interval for all Jurassic ammonoids (De Baets et al., 2015c). Heteromorphs have the smallest embryonic conchs of all Cretaceous ammonoids with median measurements of 0.8 mm, which are smaller than in Ammonitina (0.9 mm), Phylloceratina (0.9 mm), and Lytoceratina (1.2 mm; De Baets et al., 2015c). It is tempting to attribute this to constraints imposed by adult size and mobility, which probably drove selection towards an increasing number of smaller hatchlings that are better adapted to a planktic life habit (e.g. Laptikhovsky et al., 2018; Tajika et al., 2018, 2020). However, additional data comparing adult and embryonic sizes and distributions will be necessary to corroborate this hypothesis.

### (5) Intraspecific variability

Herein, we use the six archetype morphologies (orthocone, gyrocone, cyrtocone, ancylocone, torticone, and vermicone) rather than the 44 subtypes distinguished by Kakabadze (2015); Figs. 1F, 11; see also Section III). Phenotypic variation in conch shape, ornamentation, size, and suture line is common in ammonoids (De Baets et al., 2015a). Intraspecific variation rarely has been considered in ammonoid taxonomy, even less so in heteromorphs (Ropolo, 1995; Kakabadze, 2004, 2015; Witts et al., 2020), where it might partially relate to difficulties in quantitatively analysing and comparing shape variation in orthoconic, gyroconic, or torticonic forms. As in monomorphs, intraspecific variation can be continuous between two or more extremes (e.g. De Baets, Klug & Monnet, 2013b) or discontinuous between two or more morphs (e.g. Bert, 2013). More general principles like an association between strength of ornamentation and whorl cross section (Buckman's law of covariation) illustrate common ancestry and growth principles among ammonoids and molluscs as a whole (Monnet, De Baets & Yacobucci, 2015b). Various authors have argued that intraspecific variation might be higher in heteromorphs than in their monomorph relatives (e.g. Dietl, 1978; Kakabadze, 2004; De Baets et al., 2013b). This might make sense as coiling in heteromorphs is less constrained by the previous whorl and might even deviate from the planispiral plane as in gastropods. In the most extreme examples like Spiroceras, orthoconic, crioconic, and trochospiral coiling occurs within one species (e.g. Dietl, 1978). The large degree of variation and differences between different sites have been used to argue that Spiroceras was pseudoplanktic (Westermann, 1996). Various environmental factors could explain the degree of phenotypic plasticity, and the association of the mode and degree of variation in relationship to environmental factors, partially reflected in the litho- and biofacies, still need to be analysed quantitatively. Differences in coiling and ornamentation occur in gastropods, even within the same species, and are related to differences in environmental factors (Urdy, 2015). Novel methods will allow us to study intraspecific variation quantitatively in orthoconic, gyroconic, and vermiform shapes (Okamoto, 1988ab,c, 1996; Tsujino, Naruse & Maeda, 2003; De Baets et al., 2013a; Urdy, 2015; Ward et al., 2015; Hoffmann et al., 2019). Even taxa that seemingly grow chaotically like *Nipponites* have been demonstrated to have a regular growth pattern consistent with a free-living, pelagic life habit (Okamoto, 1988*c*; Peterman, Mikami & Inoue, 2020*c*). In many cases, more traditionally defined species have been synonymised, leading to more comprehensive analyses of drivers of the mode and degree of intraspecific variation in different taxa (Ward et al., 2015; De Baets et al., 2015b; Hoffmann et al., 2019).

Ammonoid conch characters vary ecophenotypically with environmental factors such as water depth and energy (Landman, n.d.; Landman & Waage, 1993*a*; Jacobs *et al.*, 1994; Ikeda & Wani, 2012; Yahada & Wani, 2013; Lukeneder, 2015; Klein & Landman, 2019). Among heteromorphs, only scaphitid conch characters have been quantitatively shown to vary with environment, which is likely linked to their nektobenthic life habit (Landman *et al.*, 2012*a*). Other clades, such as baculitids, appear to show variation in conch characters with facies but this remains to be explored in detail (N.H. Landman, personal communication). Jacobs *et al.* (1994) documented the degree of whorl compression within Turonian *Scaphites whitfieldi* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. They show that whorls are more compressed in nearshore facies, and that compressed whorls were hydrodynamically more efficient in these higher-energy environments. Landman (n.d.) showed that *Hoploscaphites* became more compressed and nodose in response to a late Campanian to early Maastrichtian shift from lower-energy offshore to higher-energy nearshore environments in the WIS. Landman & Waage (1993*a*) showed how several different conch characters vary within late Maastrichtian *Hoploscaphites* and *Discoscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS. *Hoploscaphites* in near- and offshore facies in the WIS.

scaputes in nearshore factes are less unbilicate, more nodose, and have more compressed whorl sections compared to specimens in offshore facies (Landman & Waage, 1993*a*). *Discoscaphites* are also more nodose in nearshore than in offshore facies (Landman & Waage, 1993*a*). These facies-linked patterns indicate that intraspecific variation in conch characters reflect local adaptations of populations to the differing environments associated with the nektobenthic life habit across a spectrum from shallower to deeper habitats. Jacobs *et al.* (1994) hypothesised that iterative evolutionary changes in ammonoid lineages might be driven by selection for conch characters specifically adapted to environments that fluctuate through time with sea level.

# VI. HETEROMORPHS THROUGH TIME

#### (1) Devonian heteromorphs

Ammonoids originated from orthoconic orthoceratids via cyrtocone bactritoid ancestors during the Early Devonian (Kröger & Mapes, 2007; Kröger et al., 2011; De Baets et al., 2013a; Klug et al., 2015a). This is based on a stratigraphically consistent record of evolutionary transitions in both embryonic and later ontogenetic stages within these lineages (De Baets et al., 2013a; Klug et al., 2015a). Ammonoids completing at least one whorl evolved only once (Anetoceratinae ranging from loosely coiled *Metabactrites* to coiled *Erbenoceras* and closely related forms). However, multiple bactritoid lineages evolved loosely coiled representatives including a lineage leading to Kokenia and a lineage including Cyrtobactrites and *Pseudobactrites* with a mix of morphological characters. Irrespective of these iterative coiling trends in bactritoids around the origin of ammonoids, heteromorph ammonoids have a short (about 6 million years) appearance during the Palaeozoic (Klug et al., 2015a). Early Devonian ammonoids show a rapid trend towards increased coiling in embryonic and post-embryonic development (Klug & Korn, 2004; De Baets et al., 2012). This rapid coiling trend has been linked to increased swimming velocity and manoeuvrability in the face of increased predation pressure (Klug & Korn, 2004; Klug, 2007), although the coiling of the early whorls and

System/Series	Stage	orthocone	cyrtocone	gyrocone	ancylocone	torticone	vermicone	monomorph
	Maastrichtian				· /			
	Campanian							
Late	Santonian							
Cretaceous	Coniacian							
	Cenomanian							
	Albian							
	Aptian	-						
Early	Barremian							
Cretaceous	Hauterivian		-					
	Valanginian							
	Berriasian							
Late Jurassia	Lithonian					1		
Late Jurassic	Oxfordian							
	Callovian							
Middle	Bathonian	-	•	Ĩ.				
Jurassic	Bajocian							
	Aalenian		•					
	Toarcian							
Early	Pliensbachian							
JUI 45510	Hettangian							T I
	Rhaetian							
Late Triassic	Norian		•			-		-
	Carnian	-						
Middle Triassic	Ladinian							
	Anisian							
Early Triassic	Induan							
Lopingian	Changhsingian							
	Wuchiapingian	N	6		$\sim$	A		
Cuedelunion	Capitanian		$\mathcal{I}$		(a)	A		
Guadalupian	Roadian		))	$\left( a\right)$		B	20	$\square$
	Kungurian			((@))		A	(A)	$(\bigcirc)$
Cisuralian	Artinskian			$\geq$	$\neg$	$\succ$	74-27	$\langle \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$
Cisulailan	Sakmarian		5/	L	$(\cup)$	$( \neg )$		$\sim$
	Asselian	L			$\bigtriangledown$	$\geq$		
	Gzhelian							
Pennsylvanian	Moscovian							
	Bashkirian							
	Serpukhovian							
Mississippian	Visean							
	Tournaisian							
Late Devonian	Famennian Frasnian							
Middle Devonian	Givetian Eifelian		?					
Early Devonian	Emsian Pragian							
	Lochkovian							
Number of genera: 1	5	10	15					

Fig. 11. Stratigraphic distribution of the six arche-morphotypes of heteromorphic conchs from the Devonian, Triassic, Jurassic, and Cretaceous. Also shown are secondarily monomorphic forms derived from heteromorphs. After Wright *et al.* (1996).

increased body chamber volume also influenced fecundity and reproductive strategies (De Baets *et al.*, 2012; Klug *et al.*, 2015*a*). Constructional constraints might also have played a role (Monnet, De Baets & Klug, 2011). Both biotic and abiotic factors impacted this trend as there are both convergent coiling trends within lineages and the preferential

Biological Reviews (2021) 000-000 © 2020 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

extinction of loosely coiled ammonoids during Devonian extinction events (House, 1996; De Baets *et al.*, 2012).

Mesozoic heteromorphs repeatedly underwent convergent uncoiling trends, which is the inverse to that observed in postembryonic Devonian ammonoids (Fig. 11). These forms were not an evolutionary end stage as some show secondary trends back to planispiral forms such as scaphitids or douvilleiceratids (Wiedmann, 1969; Korn, 2003). Embryonic conchs of all Mesozoic heteromorphs are planispirally coiled unlike those of most Early Devonian ammonoids. Torticone conchs did not exist among Palaeozoic ammonoids. The only exception is a slightly trochospirally coiled *Ivoites* (De Baets *et al.*, 2013*a*), which is interpreted as a pathological phenomenon related to *in vivo* encrustation (Stilkerich *et al.*, 2017).

Early Devonian gyroconic (subtype: crioconic) heteromorphs (Anetoceratinae) are palaeogeographically widely distributed from about 30°N in the Kolyma basin to 45°S in the Anti-Atlas, i.e. a similar range to normally coiled ammonoids. Other ammonoids and loosely coiled bactritoids have a more endemic distribution, which likely indicates poorer dispersal abilities and K-strategy selective reproduction (De Baets et al., 2012). These differences could also relate to collection or preservation artefacts. Fragments of loosely coiled and flattened ammonoids are not considered here as they are difficult to identify or to compare with better preserved specimens. The oldest heteromorphs occur 404 million years ago (Ma) during the early Emsian, and these lineages disappear 398 Ma at the beginning of the late Emsian (Klug et al., 2015a). Advolute ammonoids with a closed umbilical appear 396 Ma, while advolute forms with an open umbilicus disappear 390 Ma in the early Eifelian. Kokenia, another loosely coiled form, is known from the late Eifelian but is usually considered to be a bactritoid due to the age gap as well as differences in morphology. Loosely coiled Palaeozoic ammonoids are therefore maximally distributed for about 16 million years (Myr) and do not reappear for over 170 Myr until the Late Triassic [late Norian, at the beginning of the Sevatian following Jenks et al. (2015)].

In summary, loose coiling was successful for a short period in the Palaeozoic (Fig. 11) probably because it provided limited swimming capabilities. Early heteromorphs represent evolutionarily transitional forms to the fully coiled monomorphs. Later, specific environmental or ecological conditions allowed the convergence and longer evolutionary success of heteromorphs in the Mesozoic. However, this was only a post-embryonic phenomenon, highlighting the evolutionary importance of, and constraints related to, a coiled embryonic conch.

### (2) Triassic heteromorphs

Triassic heteromorphs rarely attain sizes larger than 30 mm, possess a coarse ornamentation comprised of simple straight ribs, and have low diversity (about 30 species) and disparity (morphologically stable: semi-evolute, orthocone, cyrtocone, torticone, or monomorph trochospiral; Fig. 11) compared to Jurassic and Cretaceous heteromorphs (Monnet, Brayard & Brosse, 2015a). Wiedmann (1973a) considered the Triassic four-lobed heteromorphs (Choristoceratidae) as a monophyletic family of ceratitic ammonoids (Wiedmann, 1969; Shevyrev, 2005). Choristoceratidae contains the subfamilies Rhabdoceratinae including Rhabdoceras and Peripleurites, Choristoceratinae with Choristoceras and Vandaites, as well as Cochloceratinae comprising Cochloceras and Paracochloceras (Shevyrev, 2005). Krystyn & Wiedmann (1985) regarded the Clydonitidae (Pseudothetidites praemarshi) from the Late Norian Hallstattkalk facies as direct ancestors of the Choristoceratidae, a viewpoint rejected by Shevvrey (2005). Based on a quadrilobate suture, coarse ribs, and with Rhabdoceras as its oldest representative, Shevvrey (2005) suggested the family Cycloceltitidae (Ophiorhabdoceras - a small, monomorphic, coarsely ribbed form) as potential ancestors of Triassic heteromorphs. The first Rhabdoceras occurred at the base of the Sevatian, a time interval that is characterised by decreasing ammonoid diversity (Jenks et al., 2015). Wiedmann (1973a) highlighted the differences in morphological variability between the highly variable Jurassic spiroceratids and the less variable Triassic heteromorphs.

Triassic heteromorphs occur during the Late Norian and persist into the Rhaetian (Marshi Zone) (Fig. 11). These occurences range from 209 to 201 Ma (aged according to Ogg, Ogg & Gradstein, 2016) and are geographically restricted to the Tethyan realm. Most reports come from Europe and the Pacific coast of North and South America (Yukon Territory to central Argentina; Shevyrev, 2005). The paucity of reports of Late Triassic heteromorphs prevented Brayard *et al.* (2015) from developing a biogeographical reconstruction for these ammonoids.

A life habit similar to spiroceratids was suggested for the choristoceratids (Wiedmann, 1969, 1973*a*). This viewpoint changed based on the co-occurrences of heteromorphs together with monomorphs (phylloceratids, arcestids, megaphyllitids), making it likely that choristoceratids were capable of active swimming. Based on the absence of gastropods, Laws (1982) concluded that Triassic heteromorphs from Nevada (USA) were epibenthic scavengers or micropredators that occupied the same ecological niche as gastropods. Wiedmann (1973*a*) argued that reduced selective pressure on the suture line occurred during the change from a nektic to a vagile benthic life habit, expressed as reduced complexity of suture lines. Such reduction in complexity is documented in all heteromorphs from this period, inferring a benthic life habit.

The extinction of choristoceratid heteromorphs is likely related to the Rhaetian marine regression, which is associated with a sharp negative excursion in the stable carbon isotope curve (Pálfy, Demény & Haas, 2001; Ward, Haggart & Carter, 2001; Guex *et al.*, 2003, 2004; Ward, Garrison & Haggart, 2004). This agrees with their gradual disappearance during the Rhaetian (Shevyrev, 2005). The last Triassic heteromorph *Choristoceras*, went extinct together with other monomorph ceratitids at the Triassic–Jurassic boundary. Increased volcanism (i.e. flood basalts) at the Central Atlantic Magmatic Province during the break up of Pangea (Cohen & Coe, 2002; Guex *et al.*, 2004) likely resulted in the release of sulfate aerosols and other pollutants. These pollutants reduced the effect of solar radiation, causing short-term cooling, while the release of greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide) could have led to long-term warming. We assume that these pertubations had their largest effect in the uppermost water column causing a plankton crisis. This crisis eventually affected marine ecosystems on a global scale. Some tropitids and choristoceratids survived into the earliest Jurassic based on rare occurrences from basal Hettangian strata (Longridge & Smith, 2015). Choristoceratids have been reported from Hettangian strata in North and South America (Guex, 1995; Guex *et al.*, 2004, 2012) and ?Tibet (Yin *et al.*, 2007).

# (3) Jurassic heteromorphs

Parapatoceras distans and other spiroceratids (Dietl, 1978, 1981) have a higher intraspecific variability compared to Triassic heteromorphs (Jain, 2018). Accordingly, their coiling mode is insufficient to characterise species. Two pathways from planispiral to orthocone conchs have been documented for spiroceratids (Fig. 11), including radial and axial uncoiling. The recognition of large intraspecific variability resulted in a significant reduction in the number of species from 38 to 12 (Dietl, 1978). Jurassic heteromorphs are often preserved as fragments or small specimens. Dietl (1978) reported a fragment of 40 mm whorl height indicating that they could grow to large sizes. Similar to Triassic choristoceratids, their sutures are simplified, and ornamentation comprises simple straight ribs (Jain, 2018). Rows of tubercles suggest the presence of lateral and ventral spines. Mitta (2017) reported on micro- and macroconchs with preserved apertures (lappets) in Spiroceras (Jain, 2018).

The Spiroceratidae is composed of the two subfamilies Spiroceratinae with Spiroceras and Parapatoceratinae, including Parapatoceras, Paracuariceras, and Acuariceras. Due to morphological resemblance, Mitta (2017) regarded Bajocia rarinoda as potentially ancestral to Spiroceras aff. fourneti. Jain (2018) discussed the descent of the oldest spiroceratids from either Strenoceras or Bajocia, favouring the former. Jain (2018) suggests that Spiroceras gave rise to Parapatoceras, and that Para*patoceras* gave rise to *Epistrenoceras* (a secondary monomorph) and Paracuariceras, with the latter being the ancestor of Acuar*iceras*. This phylogeny contrasts with the hypothesis that spiroceratids and parapatoceratids had independent origins (Besnossov & Kutuzova, 1990; Mitta, 2017; Galácz, 2019), but produced morphologically similar convergent forms. Besnossov & Kutuzova (1990) argued that the late Bajocian heteromorph genera Apsorroceras and Spiroceras represent macroconchs of the monomorphs Pseudogarantiana and Strenoceras and that all four genera evolved from the monomorph Caumontisphinctes as members of the Spiroceratidae. Galácz (2019) introduced the genera Kumetaceras and Sikeliceras, which he regarded as microconchs and possible ancestors of Parapatoceras.

The first Jurassic heteromorphs appear during the late Middle Bajocian (Arkelli/Bremeri Zone) with the genus *Spir*oceras and disappear with the extinction of Acuariceras during the Early Oxfordian (Collotiformis Subzone, Athleta Zone). According to Jain (2018) and Bert & Courville (2016), Jurassic heteromorphs range from 169.5 to 163 Ma (aged according to Ogg et al., 2016). The Tithonian Protancyloceras is hypothesised as the ancestor of Early Cretaceous heteromorphs (Wierzbowski, 1990; Sarti, 1999). Some species of the genera Spiroceras and Parapatoceras are distributed worldwide, such as S. orbignyi and S. annulatum. The latter was recently reported from Kenya by Galácz (2017), whereas others are more geographically restricted.

The global distribution of some species has been explained by a planktic life habit of their hatchlings. Genera such as *Paracuariceras* and *Acuariceras* are only known from France, Germany, and Romania (Jain, 2018). These heteromorphs occur frequently in clays ('Hamitentone') and their conchs show substantial morphological variability. This led to the hypothesis that spiroceratids inhabited calm water (Dietl, 1978). A vagile benthic life habit was inferred by the large variability of conch morphology from planispiral via helicoid to rhabdoceratid, i.e. from bilaterally symmetric to asymmetric forms within a single species. Specifically, crawling locomotion on plants was suggested due to associated findings of the bivalve '*Posidonia*' (*Bositra*), which are thought to have lived in 'macroalgae forest' (Dietl, 1978).

A benthic life of spiroceratids is contradicted by records of spiroceratids within sideritic beds devoid of benthos except for abundant Ophiopinna elegans (ophiuroids) in the clays of La Voulte (Dietl & Mundlos, 1972). Shevyrev (2005) revived the benthic habitat hypothesis for spiroceratids with their biotopes in dense algal thickets. He argued that their hydrostatic apparatus enabled them to change their position within these algal mats. Since spiroceratids rarely co-occur with planispiral ammonoids, Shevyrev (2005) speculated that they lived in cracks in the sea bottom in calm water. Mitta (2017), however, found spiroceratids in Bajocian siltstone nodules together with Baculatoceras, Calliphylloceras, Holcophylloceras, Pseudophylloceras, and Megalytoceras, i.e. forms that inhabitat the pelagic realm. Herein, spiroceratids are regarded as having a pelagicnektoplanktic life habit.

The higher-level systematics of Jurassic and Cretaceous heteromorphs remains problematic. Different schemes are available but there is no consensus. Arkell, Kummel & Wright (1957) included all heteromorphs in the Lytoceratina. Wiedmann (1966*a,b*) then included them in the Ancyloceratina. Subsequently, they were split into the Turrilitina and Ancyloceratina (Doguzhaeva & Mikhailova, 1982; Besnossov & Mikhailova, 1983), which was accepted by most subsequent workers (see Wright *et al.*, 1996). Later, Shevyrev (2006) assigned them to the Lytoceratoidea and Ammonitida. Vermeulen (2005) added the Protancyloceratina. These examples reflect the complexity of the interpretation of their polyphyletic origin and evolutionary record (Matsukawa, 1987; Monks, 1999, 2000*a*).



Fig. 12. Ranges of Maastrichtian to earliest Danian heteromorph genera. Taxonomy after Wright *et al.* (1996), with the omission of *Jeletzkytes* and *Karkvaageites* following Landman *et al.* (2010*b*), *Ponteixites* following Grier *et al.* (2007), and the subgenus *Tovebirkelundites* following Kennedy & Jagt (1998). In the absence of a fully integrated stratigraphic scheme for the subdivision and correlation of all basins, the division of the Maastrichtian into the five bins (early early, late early, early late, late late, and last 0.5 million years) is arbitrary. Phylogenetic relationships between scaphitid genera differ among authors (e.g. Cooper, 1994; Monks, 2000*a*), and are therefore not included.

# (4) Cretaceous heteromorphs and ammonoid extinction

Heteromorphs have been classically linked to the extinction of the ammonoids (Wiedmann, 1969). Their 'aberrant' conch shapes were often related to degeneration and phylogenetic extinction (e.g. Dacqué, 1935; Schindewolf, 1936, 1945; Müller, 1955). The fact that they are a dominant faunal element in many Late Cretaceous ammonoid faunas might have sustained this hypothesis. However, Mesozoic heteromorphs were successful, particularly in the Cretaceous (Fig. 11), as evidenced by their high abundance, generic diversity, and morphological disparity (Seilacher, 2013). Elevated generic diversity is recognised during the late Hauterivian to Aptian, late Albian, and Coniacian to Campanian, with peaks in the late Barremian, late Albian, and early Campanian (Klein et al., 2007; Mikhailova & Baraboschkin, 2009). A wide variety of heteromorph conch shapes developed in the Cretaceous, but the most complex threedimensional shapes evolved within the Nostoceratidae with genera like *Nipponites*, *Pravitoceras*, *Eubostrychoceras*, *Didymoceras*, and *Anaklinoceras* (Wiedmann, 1969; Wright *et al.*, 1996).

Heteromorphs are the most abundant faunal element (mostly scaphitids and baculitids) documented at 29 out of 31 sites preserving a record from the last 0.5 Myr of the Cretaceous (Landman *et al.*, 2014, 2015). New genera within the Diplomoceratidae, Baculitidae, and Scaphitidae evolved during the Maastrichtian (Fig. 12). The diversity of Nostoceratidae declined during the late Maastrichtian with only two *Nostoceras* specimens known from the Maastrichtian type area (van der Tuuk & Zijlstra, 1979).

Goolaerts (2010) concluded that the cause of the extinction of ammonoids must have been a catastrophic event affecting both heteromorph and monomorph diversity on a global scale, in colder and warmer waters, in shallow and deeper settings, and for a wide variety of taxa exhibiting different food and life strategies. The Chicxulub impact at the Cretaceous/Paleogene (K/Pg) boundary (66 Ma; Schulte *et al.*, 2010) is currently regarded as the most probable trigger for ammonoid extinction (Ward, 1996; Goolaerts, 2010; Landman *et al.*, 2014, 2015; Petersen, Dutton & Lohmann, 2016; Witts *et al.*, 2016; Tobin, 2017).

Ammonoids have been reported from beds above the K/Pg boundary. Most of these records reflect reworked specimens or resulted from an erroneously placed K/Pg boundary level (Sadler, 1988; Landman, Johnson & Edwards, 2004*a*,*b*; Landman *et al.*, 2007*a*). However, some may belong to possible extinction event victims or even were true short-term survivors. At Tanis, North Dakota, the monomorph *Sphenodiscus* is the only ammonoid recorded from beds directly correlated to the Chicxulub impact (De Palma *et al.*, 2019).

In Denmark, ammonoids from the Cerithium Limestone were considered as reworked until Machalski & Heinberg (2005) reported early Danian age infilling of the conchs, which favoured the short-term survivor hypothesis for *Hoploscaphites constrictus johnjagti* and *Baculites vertebralis* (Machalski *et al.*, 2009). The Cerithium Limestone was deposited between 40 and 500 kyr after the K/Pg boundary (Rasmussen, Heinberg & Håkansson, 2005).

In the type Maastrichtian area (The Netherlands, Belgium), ammonoids were found up to 2 m above the K/Pg boundary (Goolaerts, 2010; Jagt *et al.*, 2013; Vellekoop *et al.*, 2020). The fauna consists exclusively of heteromorphs: *Eubaculites latecarinatus, Baculites* spp. and *H. constrictus johnjagti* (Landman *et al.*, 2014, 2015). These are regarded as true survivors (Vellekoop *et al.*, 2020), but in contrast to Denmark, the ammonoids range in age from hundreds to thousands of years after the K/Pg boundary.

In New Jersey (USA), non-reworked ammonoids were found above an iridium anomaly, which likely represents the K/Pg boundary (Landman *et al.*, 2007*a*, 2010*a*, 2012*c*, 2014, 2015). In the *Pinna* Layer, which contains the iridium anomaly at its base, the fauna is dominated by the heteromorphs *Discoscaphites* and *Eubaculites*. In the overlying Burrowed Unit, *Discoscaphites* and *Eubaculites* have also been recorded.

Tajika *et al.* (2018, 2020) discussed the ecological framework of the ammonoid extinction at the K/Pg boundary. Tajika *et al.* (2018) suggested ecological replacement of the micro- to mesoplanktic ammonoid (and belemnite) hatchlings by holoplanktic gastropods in the Paleogene. Tajika *et al.* (2020) hypothesised that a combination of higher metabolic rates, a microphageous diet, and small hatchling size (i.e. limited resources) likely caused the selective extinction of the ammonoids. By contrast, nautilids and coleoids with different metabolism, macrophageous to scavenging diets, and varying reproductive strategies survived the K/Pg mass extinction.

# VII. CONCLUSIONS

 This review of published data on the soft body, conch organisation, habitat, and palaeoecology of heteromorph ammonoids has resulted in a detailed and robust reconstruction of their palaeobiology. It should provide a useful background for those studying the life habits of extinct animals and more specifically heteromorphs.

- (2) The digestive tract of heteromorphs with an oesophagus, crop, and stomach, follows the molluscan U-shaped bauplan. Their brain was likely well developed as in other cephalopods, because of the need to control their position in the water column and to process information provided from their lens eyes and statocysts. Based on phylogenetic bracketing, we assume that heteromorphs had 10 arms and lacked suckers, hooks, and tentacles (extendable arms). Heteromorphs had no hood and ink sac but probably had ammonia in their soft tissues, which resulted in the rapid decay of soft parts, explaining their absence in the fossil record.
- (3) The buccal apparatus in heteromorphs shares the general pattern of ammonoid jaws: a smaller upper jaw inserted into a longer and larger lower jaw. All Cretaceous heteromorphs share an aptychus-type lower jaw with a lamellar calcitic covering. Aptychi may have fulfilled multiple functions: lower jaw, operculum, filtering device, flushing benthic prey, pumping for jet propulsion, regulating conch position, and stabilisation against rocking.
- (4) Differences in the morphology and size of radular teeth reported for heteromorphs suggest preferences for microphagous prey (i.e. zooplankton).
- (5) Based on functional morphological and phylogenetic constraints, the presence of muscles such as the cephalic retractors, hyponome retractors, ventral muscle, and mantle musculature are assumed for heteromorphs. Homologisation of ammonoid muscles and their attachment sites with those of coleoids and nautilids will require soft tissue preservation.
- (6) Heteromorphs could achieve nearly neutral buoyancy regardless of conch shape or ontogeny. This was potentially achieved by adding fluid to a positively buoyant conch or counteracting slight negative buoyancy through swimming. Encrustation by epizoans like barnacles, brachiopods, and bivalves supports the buoyant heteromorph hypothesis and contradicts the idea of a benthic habitat.
- (7) A vertical orientation for orthoconic heteromorphs has been proposed based on physical and virtual models. Ancylocone conchs likely had a near-horizontal aperture pointing upwards. Heteromorphs with a Ushaped body chamber (nostocones, scaphiticones, and ancylocones) are more stable hydrodynamically than modern *Nautilus* and were unable to modify substantially their orientation by active locomotion, i.e. had no or limited access to benthic prey. These forms have their hyponomes horizontally aligned with their centres of rotation, allowing more energy to be transmitted to translational movement with minimal rocking, i.e. these morphotypes are well suited for backwards horizontal swimming at maturity.

- (8) Pathologies reported for ancylocone scaphitids were likely inflicted by crustaceans, fish, marine reptiles, and other cephalopods. Injuries in baculitids have been assigned to pycnodontid fish, coleoids, and benthic crustaceans. Pathologies of *Ptychoceras* corroborate an external shell and reject the endocochleate hypothesis for this taxon.
- (9) Stomach contents of Cretaceous heteromorphs comprise planktic crustaceans, gastropods, and crinoids suggesting a zooplanktic diet. Forms with a U-shaped body chamber (ancylocone) are regarded as suspension feeders, whereas orthoconic conchs might have had access to benthic prey. A carnivorous diet for heteromorphs is supported by the fact that all modern cephalopods are carnivorous.
- (10) Heteromorphs are known from a broad range of litho- and biofacies. These facies associations change through time among and within respective clades. Devonian, Triassic, and Jurassic heteromorphs show a preference for deep-subtidal to offshore facies but are rare in shallow-subtidal, slope, and bathyal facies. Early Cretaceous heteromorphs preferred deep-subtidal to bathyal facies but are rare in shallow-subtidal facies. Late Cretaceous heteromorphs are common in shallow-subtidal to offshore facies but rare in slope and bathyal facies. The increase in heteromorph species in shallowsubtidal settings during the Late Cretaceous likely reflects an evolutionary shift to shallower-water environments.
- (11) Adult *Discoscaphites* and *Baculites* show oxygen isotope values supporting an interpretation of rapid growth and a demersal habitat. Analyses of the earliest whorls of *Hoploscaphites* suggest a benthic embryonic stage, planktic hatchlings, and a habitat change after about one whorl. Carbon isotope values derived from *Baculites* from the Western Interior Seaway indicate that some heteromorphs lived on or close to cold seeps throughout their lives and likely exploited the diverse prey available at the seeps.
- (12) Heteromorphs have the smallest hatchlings of all Cretaceous ammonoids. Constraints imposed by adult size and mobility potentially drove selection for more and/or smaller hatchlings adapted to a planktic life. This implies high fecundity and an ecological role of the hatchlings as micro- and mesoplankton.
- (13) Various environmental factors, partially reflected in the litho- and biofacies, explain the large degree of intraspecific variation in heteromorphs. So far, only scaphitid conch characters have been shown to vary with environment, in accordance with their nektobenthic life habit, e.g. whorls being more compressed, more umbilicate, and less nodose in nearshore facies compared to specimens from offshore facies.

- (14) The Maastrichtian is noted for the evolution of new ammonoid genera and at many latest Cretaceous localities, heteromorphs are the most abundant macrofaunal element. The cause of the extinction of ammonoids must have been a catastrophic event affecting their diversity on a global scale and for a wide variety of organisms exhibiting different life habits. The Chicxulub impact at the K/Pg boundary (66 Ma) is the likely trigger for their final extinction.
- (15) Post-K/Pg-boundary ammonoid survivors are all heteromorphs, which likely survived up to 40–500 kyr after the mass extinction event.
- (16) The heteromorph and monomorph ammonoid extinction is linked to their small hatchling sizes, planktotrophic diets, and high metabolic rates. The end-Cretaceous event caused a collapse of marine primary producers, which allowed only cephalopods with sufficient energy reserves, macrophageous diet, and low metabolic rates to survive.

# VIII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Alexander Lukeneder and two anonymous reviewers for constructive comments that significantly improved the quality of this review, and to John Welch and Alison Cooper for the handling of this manuscript. A.M. acknowledges financial support from RFBR grant no. 18-05-01070, the Russian amateur palaeontologists Marina and Andrei Belousko and Dmitry Vartanian for the donation of Ptychoceras specimens for this study, and Dmitry Vinogradov for permission to photograph specimens from his collection. S.G. received funding from the Belspo BR/175/A2/CHICXULUB project 'Chicxulub 2016 IODP-ICDP deep drilling: From cratering to mass-extinction'. J.S. acknowledges Garett M. Brown, Peter J. Harries, Keith P. Minor, Neil H. Landman, and Ashley L. Sandness. R.H. is grateful to Kevin Stevens for helpful comments on an early draft, Phyllis Mono for help with formatting, Gernot Nehrke for the Raman images shown in Fig. 2, and M. Rogov for helping us to find the originator of the term 'heteromorph'. Images of injured specimens were provided by Sönke Simonsen for Aegocricoeras raricostatum, Wolfgang Grulke for Pictetia, Kurt Wiedenroth for Aegocrioceras. R.H. thanks the DFG for financial support of this project (DFG HO 4674/4-1). C.K. received financial support from the Swiss National Science foundations (project nr. 200020\_169847, 200021 149119, and 200020 169627). Open access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL. Open access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

### **IX. REFERENCES**

ARKADIEV, V. V. (2008). Representatives of the family Bochianitidae (Ammonoidea) from the Lower Cretaceous of the Crimean Mountains. *Paleontological Journal* 42, 18–26.

- ARKELL, W. J., KUMMEL, B. & WRIGHT, W. (1957). Mesozoic Ammonoidea. In Treatise on Invertebrate Palaeontology, Part L, Mollusca 4. Cephalopoda, Ammonoidea (ed. R. C. MOORE), pp. 80–465. Geological Society of America & University of Kansas Press, Boulder.
- ARKHIPKIN, A. I. (2014). Getting hooked: the role of a u-shaped body chamber in the shell of adult heteromorph ammonites. *Journal of Molluscan Studies* 80, 354–364.
- AUCLAIR, A.-C., LECUYER, C., BUCHER, H. & SHEPPARD, S. M. F. (2004). Carbon and oxygen isotope composition of *Nautilus macromphalus*: a record of thermocline waters off New Caledonia. *Chemical Geology* 207, 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.chemgco.2004.02.006.
- BALINSKI, A. (2010). First colour-patterned strophomenide brachiopod from the earliest Devonian of Podolia, Ukraine. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica 55, 695–700.
- BARABOSCHKIN, E. Y. & ENSON, K. V. (2003). Paleobathymetry of the Valanginian-Aptian Basin in the Crimean Mountains based on strength indices of ammonoid shells. *Vestnik Moskov University Series 4 – Geology* 4, 8–17.
- BARNARD, W. & DE WAAL, D. (2006). Raman investigation of pigmentary molecules in the molluscan biogenic matrix. *Journal of Raman Spectroscopy* **37**, 342–352.
- BARRAGAN, R., GONZALEZ-ARREOLA, C. & VILLASEÑOR, A. B. (2004). Palaeoecological significance of Barremian ammonite assemblages and facies variations from Southwest Mexico. *Lethaia* 37, 223–234.
- BATT, R.J. (1986). A test of the effects of paleoecological factors on the distribution of ammonite shell morphotypes. Greenhorn Cyclothem, Cretaceous Western Interior Seaway. Cretaceous Biofacies of the Central Part of Western Interior Seaway: A Field Guidebook, 16–52.
- BATT, R. J. (1989). Ammonite shell morphotype distributions in the Western Interior Greenhorn Sea and some paleoecological implications. *PALAIOS* 4, 32–42.
- BAYER, U. (1970). Anomalien bei Ammoniten des Aaleniums und Bajociums und ihre Bezichung zur Lebensweise. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 135, 19–41.
- BERRY, K. (2018a). Baculites taphonomy: a new technique for identifying potential cases of long-distance post-mortem dispersal in Cretaceous ammonites. In Fossil Record 6: New Mexico Museum of Natural History and Science Bulletin (Volume 79, eds S. G. LUCAS and R. M. SULLIVAN Albuquerque, NM: New Mexico Museum of Natural History and Science), pp. 51–54.
- BERRY, K. (2018b). On the palaeoecology of the index ammonites *Baculites* (Lamarck, 1799) and *Scaphites* (Parkinson, 1811) as revealed by a study of relatively rare epizoans. *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie Abhandlungen* 288, 221–226.
- BERT, D. (2013). Factors of intraspecific variability in ammonites, the example of Gassendiceras alpinum (d'Orbigny, 1850) (Hemihoplitidae, upper Barremian). Annales de Paléontologie 100, 217–236.
- BERT, D. & COURVILLE, P. (2016). First record of late Callovian to early Oxfordian heteromorph ammonites. *Annales de Paléontologie* **102**, 117–121.
- BESNOSSOV, N. V. & KUTUZOVA, V. V. (1990). Systematic of the Middle Jurassic heteromorphic ammonites. *Paleontological Zhurnal* 1990, 23–30.
- BESNOSSOV, N. V. & MIKHAILOVA, I. A. (1983). Evolution of the Jurassic-Cretaceous Ammonoids. Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR 269, 733–737.
- BIRKELUND, T. (1965). Ammonites from the Upper Cretaceous of West Greenland. Meddelser om Gronland, Kommisionen for Videnskabelige Undersögelser I Grönland 179, 1–192.
- BRAGG, W. H. & BRAGG, W. L. (1913). The reflexion of x-rays by crystals. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A 88, 428–438.
- BRAYARD, A., ESCARGUEL, G., MONNET, C., JENKS, J. F. & BUCHER, H. (2015). Biogeography of Triassic ammonoids. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Macroevolution to Paleogeography. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 44, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 359–426. Springer, Dordrecht.
- BREITKREUTZ, H., DIEDRICH, R. & METZDORF, R. (1991). Fossilfunde aus der Schwarz-bunten Wechselfolge (Ob. Cenoman bis Unter Turon) des Ostwestfalendammes bei Bielefeld. Bericht des Naturwissenschaftlichen Vereins für Bielefeld und Umgegend 32, 37–48.
- CASEY, R. (1980). A monograph of the Ammonoidea of the Lower Greensand, part 9. Monograph of the Palaeontographical Society 133, 633–660.
- CECCA, F. (1997). Late Jurassic and Early Cretaceous uncoiled ammonites; trophismrelated evolutionary processes. *Comptes rendus de l'Académie des Sciences* 325, 629–634.
- CHAMBERLAIN, J. A., WARD, P. D. & WEAVER, J. S. (1981). Post-mortem ascent of *Nautilus* shells: implications for cephalopod paleobiogeography. *Paleobiology* 7, 494–509.
- CHECA, A. G., OKAMOTO, T. & KEUPP, H. (2002). Abnormalities as natural experiments: a morphogenetic model for coiling regulation in planispiral ammonites. *Paleobiology* 28, 127–138.
- CHLUPÁČ, I. & TUREK, V. (1983). Devonian goniatites from the Barrandian area, Czechoslovakia. *Rozpravy, dstredniho dstavu geologickkho* 46, 1–159.
- CLARKE, M. R. & MADDOCK, L. (1988). Beaks of Living Coleoid Cephalopoda, pp. 123–131. Academic Press, Cambridge.
- CLEMENTS, T., COLLEARY, C., DE BAETS, K. & VINTHER, J. (2017). Buoyancy mechanisms limit preservation of coleoid cephalopod soft tissues in Mesozoic Lagerstätten. *Palaeontology* **60**, 1–14.
- CLOSS, D. (1967a). Goniatiten mit Radula und Kieferapparat in der Itararé Formation von Uruguay. Paläontologische Zeitschrift 41, 19–37.
- CLOSS, D. (1967b). Upper Carboniferous anaptychi from Uruguay. Ameghiniana 5, 145–148.

- COBBAN, W. A. (1993). Diversity and distribution of Late Cretaceous ammonites, Western Interior, United States. Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper 39, 435–451.
- COBBAN, W. A., KENNEDY, W. J. & SCOTT, G. R. (1993). Upper Cretaceous heteromorph ammonites from the Baculites compressus zone of the Pierre shale in north-Central Colorado. US Geological Survey Bulletin 2024, A1–A11.
- COHEN, A. S. & COE, A. L. (2002). New geochemical evidence for the onset of volcanism in the Central Atlantic Magmatic Province environmental changes at the Triassic-Jurassic boundary. *Geology* 30, 267–270.
- COMPANY, M. (1987). Los ammonites del Valanginiense del sector oriental de las Cordilleras Bética (SE de Espana). Tesis Doctoral (Univ. Granada, 1987).
- COOPER, M. R. (1994). Towards a phylogenetic classification of the Cretaceous ammonites. III. Scaphitaceae. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 193, 165–193.
- DACQUÉ, E. (1935). Organische Morphologie und Paläontologie, p. 476. Borntraeger, Berlin.
- DAVIS, R. A., MAPES, R. H. & KLOFAK, S. M. (1999). Epizoa on externally shelled cephalopods. In *Fossil Cephalopods: Recent Advances in their Study* (eds A. V. ROZANOV and A. A. SHEVYREV), pp. 32–51. Russian Academy of Sciences, Palaeontological Institute, Moscow.
- DE BAETS, K., KLUG, C., KORN, D. & LANDMAN, N. H. (2012). Early evolutionary trends in ammonoid embryonic development. *Evolution* 66, 1788–1806.
- DE BAETS, K., KLUG, C., KORN, D., BARTELS, C. & POSCHMANN, M. (2013a). Emsian Ammonoidea and the age of the Hunsrück slate (Rhenish Mountains, Western Germany). *Palaeontographica, Abteilung A* 299, 1–113.
- DE BAETS, K., KLUG, C. & MONNET, C. (2013b). Intraspecific variability through ontogeny in early ammonoids. *Paleobiology* 39, 75–94.
- DE BAETS, K., BERT, D., HOFFMANN, R., MONNET, C., YACOBUCCI, M. M. & KLUG, C. (2015a). Ammonoid intraspecific variability. In *Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology*. Topics in Geobiology (Volume **43**, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 359–426. Springer, Dordrecht.
- DE BAETS, K., KEUPP, H. & KLUG, C. (2015b). Parasites of ammonoids. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 837–875. Springer, Dordrecht.
- DE BAETS, K., LANDMAN, N. H. & TANABE, K. (2015c). Ammonoid embryonic development. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 113–205. Springer, Dordrecht.
- DE PALMA, R. A., SMIT, S., BURNHAM, D. A., KUIPER, K., MANNING, P. L., OLEINIK, A., LARSON, P., MAURRASSE, F. J., VELLEKOOP, J., RICHARDS, M. A., GURCHE, L. & ALVAREZ, W. (2019). A seismically induced onshore surge deposit at the KPg boundary, North Dakota. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 116, 8190–8199.
- DENTON, E. J. & GILPIN-BROWN, J. B. (1966). On the buoyancy of the pearly nautilus. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 46, 723–759.
- DIETL, G. (1978). Die heteromorphen Ammoniten des Doggers. Stuttgarter Beiträge zur Naturkunde Serie B (Geologie und Paläontologie) 33, 1–97.
- DIETL, G. (1981). Über Paracuariceras und andere heteromorphe Ammoniten aus dem Macrocephalen-Oolith (Unter-Callovium, Dogger) des Schwabischen Juras. Stuttgarter Beiträge zur Naturkunde Serie B (Geologie und Paläontologie) 76, 1–15.
- DIETL, G. & MUNDLOS, R. (1972). Ökologie und Biostratinomie von Ophiopinna elegans (Ophiuroidea) aus dem Untercallovium von La Voulte (Südfrankreich). Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie Monatshefte 1972, 449–464.
- DOGUZHAEVA, L. A. & MAPES, R. H. (2015). The body chamber length variations and muscle and mantle attachments in ammonoids. In *Ammonoid Paleobiology Volume: From Anatomy to Ecology*. Topics in Geobiology (Volume **43**, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 545–584. Springer, Dordrecht.
- DOGUZHAEVA, L. A. & MIKHAILOVA, I. (1982). The genus Luppovia and the phylogeny of Cretaceous heteromorphic ammonoids. Lethaia 15, 55–65.
- DOGUZHAEVA, L. A. & MIKHAILOVA, I. (2002). The jaw apparatus of the heteromorphic ammonite Australiceras whitehouse, 1926 (Mollusca: Cephalopoda) from the Aptian of the Volga region. Doklady Biological Sciences 382, 38–40.
- DOGUZHAEVA, L. A. & MUTVEI, H. (1989). *Ptychoceras* a heteromorphic lytoceratid with truncated shell and modified ultrastructure (Mollusca: Ammonoidea). *Palaeontographica A* 208, 91–121.
- DOGUZHAEVA, L. A. & MUTVEI, H. (1993). Shell ultrastructure, muscle-scars, and buccal apparatus in ammonoids. *Geobios* 26, 111–119.
- DOGUZHAEVA, L. A. & MUTVEI, H. (2015). The additional external shell layers indicative of "endocochleate experiments" in some ammonoids. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatony to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 585–609. Springer, Dordrecht.
- DOGUZHAEVA, L. A., MAPES, R. H. & MUTVEI, H. (2002). Shell morphology and ultrastructure of the early Carboniferous Coleoid *Hematites* Flower & Gordon, 1959 (Hematitida Ord. Nov.) from midcontinent (USA). *Abhandlungen der Geologischen Bundesanstalt (Vienna)* 57, 299–320.

- DOGUZHAEVA, L. A., MUTVEI, H., SUMMESBERGER, H. & DUNCA, E. (2004). Bituminous soft body tissues in the body chamber of the late Triassic ceratitid Austrotrachyceras from the Austrian Alps. Mitteilungen aus dem Geologisch-Paläontologischen Institut der Universität Hamburg 88, 37–50.
- EBBIGHAUSEN, V., BECKER, R. T., BOCKWINKEL, J. & ABOUSSALAM, Z. S. (2007). Givetian (Middle Devonian) brachiopod goniatite correlation in the dra valley (anti-atlas, Morocco) and Bergisch Gladbach Paffrath syncline (Rhenish massif, Germany). Geological Society, London, Special Publications 278, 157–172.
- ELLIS, N. M. & TOBIN, T. S. (2019). Evidence for seasonal variation in δ<sup>13</sup>C and δ<sup>18</sup>O profiles of *Baculites* and implications for growth rate. *Palaeontology* **62**, 583–598. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12416.
- ENGESER, T. (1996). The position of the Ammonoidea within the Cephalopoda. In Ammonoid Paleobiology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 13, eds N. H. LANDMAN, K. TANABE and R. A. DAVIS), pp. 3–19, Plenum Press, New York.
- ENGESER, T. & KEUPP, H. (2002). Phylogeny of the aptychi-possessing Neoammonoidea (Aptychophora nov., Cephalopoda). *Lethaia* 34, 79–96.
- ENNIS, G. P. & COLLINS, P. W. (1979). Food and feeding of the short finned squid Illex illecebrosus, during its seasonal occurrence in the Newfoundland area. ICNAF Select Paper 5, 25–29.
- FARINACCI, A., MARIOTTI, N., MATTEUCCI, R., NICOSIA, U. & PALLINI, G. (1976). Structural features of some Jurassic and Early Cretaceous aptychi. *Bollettino della Società Paleontologica Italiana* 15, 111–143.
- FATHERREE, J. W., HARRIES, P. J. & QUINN, T. M. (1998). Oxygen and carbon isotopic "dissection" of *Baculites compressus* (Mollusca: Cephalopoda) from the Pierre shale (upper Campanian) of South Dakota; implications for paleoenvironmental reconstructions. *Palaios* 13, 376–385.
- FERGUSON, K., MACLEOD, K. G., LANDMAN, N. H. & SESSA, J. A. (2019). Evaluating growth and ecology in baculitid and scaphitid ammonites using stable isotope sclerochronology. *Palaios* 34, 317–329. https://doi.org/10.2110/palo.2019.005.
- FRERICHS, U. (2003). Verheilte Verletzungen bei Ammoniten aus dem Hauterive im Großraum Hannover. Arbeitskreis Paläontologie Hannover 31, 37–43.
- FRERICHS, U. (2004). Anaptychen und Aptychen-Kieferapparate oder Deckel? Allgemeine Einführung und Beschreibung von Funden aus der Kreide im Raum Hannover. Arbeitskreis Paläontologie Hannover 32, 1–15.
- FRERICHS, U. (2010). Fossilien aus dem Oberhauterive der Tongrube Resse. Arbeitskreis Paläontologie Hannover 38, 1–74.
- FRITSCH, A.V. (1893). Studien im Gebiete der böhmischen Kreideformation V. Die Priesener Schichten. Archiv Naturwiss Landesdurchforsch Böhm 9, 1–135.
- FRITSCH, A. V. & SCHLÖNBACH, U. (1872). Cephalopoden der böhmischen Kreideformation, pp. 1–51. Verlag Anton Fritsch, Prag.
- FUCHS, D., IBA, Y., TISCHLINGER, H., KEUPP, H. & KLUG, C. (2016). The locomotion system of Mesozoic Colcoidea (Cephalopoda) and its phylogenetic significance. *Lethaia* 49, 433–454. https://doi.org/10.1111/let.12155.
- GALÁCZ, A. (2017). Bajocian (middle Jurassic) ammonites of stratigraphical and palaeobiogeographical importance from Mombasa, Kenya, East Africa. *Geodiversitas* 39, 717–737.
- GALÁCZ, A. (2019). Rare and new late Bathonian (middle Jurassic) ammonites from Monte Kumeta, western Sicily. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 291, 231–252.
- GOLIKOV, A. V., CEIA, F. R., SABIROV, R. M., ABLETT, J. D., GLEADALL, I. G., GUDMUNDSSON, G. & ROSAS-LUIS, R. (2019). The first global deep-sea stable isotope assessment reveals the unique trophic ecology of vampire squid Vampyroteuthis infernalis (Cephalopoda). Scientific Reports 9, 1–13.
- GOOLAERTS, S. (2010). Late Cretaceous ammonites from Tunisia: chronology and causes of their extinction and extrapolation to other areas. *Aardkundige Mededelingen* **21**, xii + 220.
- GRIER, J. W., GRIER, J. C., LARSON, N. L. & PETERSEN, J. G. (2007). Synonymy of the ammonite genus Ponteixites Warren with Rhaeboceras Meek. Rody Mountain Geology 42, 123–136.
- GRULKE, W. (2014). Heteromorphs The rarest fossil ammonites. 224 pp., @one.
- GUEX, J. (1995). Ammonites Hettangiennes de la Gabbs Valley Range (Nevada, USA). Mémoires de géologie, Lausanne 27, 1–30.
- GUEX, J. (2006). Reinitialization of evolutionary clocks during sublethal environmental stress in some invertebrates. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* 242, 240–253.
- GUEX, J., BARTOLINI, A., ATUDOREI, V. & TAYLOR, D. (2003). Two negative  $\delta^{13}$ C excursions near the Triassic-Jurassic in the New York canyon area (Gabbs Valley range, Nevada). Bulletins of Geology Lausanne Numéro Spécial **360**, 1–4.
- GUEX, J., BARTOLINI, A., ATUDOREI, V. & TAYLOR, D. (2004). High-resolution ammonite and carbon isotope stratigraphy across the Triassic-Jurassic boundary at New York canyon (Nevada). *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* 225, 29–41.
- GUEX, J., SCHOENE, B., BARTOLINI, A., SPANGENBERG, J., SCHALTEGGER, U., O'DOGHERTY, L., TAYLOR, D., BUCHER, H. & ATUDOREI, V. (2012). Geochronological constraints on post-extinction recovery of the ammonoids and carbon cycle perturbations during the early Jurassic. *Palaeogeography*, *Palaeoclimatology*, *Palaeoecology* 346–347, 1–11.
- HAAS, O. (1943). Some abnormally coiled ammonites from the Upper Cretaceous of Angola. The American Museum of Natural History, New York City 1222, 1–17.

- HAGGART, J. W. (1984). Upper Cretaceous (Santonian-Campanian) ammonite and inoceramid biostratigraphy of the Chico Formation, California. *Cretaceous Research* 5, 225–241.
- HANLON, R. T. & MESSENGER, J. B. (2018). Cephalopod Behaviour, pp. 1–365. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- HAUSCHKE, N., SCHÖLLMANN, L. & KEUPP, H. (2011). Oriented attachment of a stalked cirripede on an orthoconic heteromorph ammonite - implications for the swimming position of the latter. *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen* 262, 199–212.
- HE, S., KYSER, T. K. & CALDWELL, W. G. E. (2005). Paleoenvironment of the Western Interior Seaway inferred from  $\delta^{18}$ O and  $\delta^{13}$ C values of molluses from the Cretaceous Bearpaw marine cyclothem. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* **217**, 67–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2004.11.016.
- HEBDON, N., RITTERBUSH, K. A. & CHOI, Y. J. (2020). Computational fluid dynamics modeling of fossil ammonoid shells. *Palaeontologia Electronica* 23, a21. https://doi.org/ 10.26879/956.
- HEDEGAARD, C., BARDEAU, J.-F. & CHATEIGNER, D. (2006). Molluscan shell pigments: an in situ resonance raman study. *Journal of Molluscan Studies* 72, 157–162.
- HENDERSON, R. A., KENNEDY, W. J. & COBBAN, W. A. (2002). Perspectives of ammonite paleobiology from shell abnormalities in the genus *Baculites. Lethaia* 35, 215–230.
- HENGSBACH, R. (1996). Ammonoid pathology. In Ammonoid Paleobiology. Topics in Geobiology Volume 13, eds N. H. LANDMAN, K. TANABE and R. A. DAVIS), pp. 581–605, Plenum Press, New York.
- HERRING, P. J., CLARKE, M. R., BOLETZKY, S.V. & RYAN, K. P. (1981). The light organs of *Sepiola atlantica* and *Spirula spirula* (Mollusca: Cephalopoda): bacterial and intrinsic Systems in the Order Sepioidea. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association*, U.K. 61, 901–916.
- HEWITT, R. A. (1996). Architecture and strength of the ammonoid shell. In Ammonoid Paleobiology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 13, eds N. H. LANDMAN, K. TANABE and R. A. DAVIS), pp. 297–339, Plenum Press, New York.
- HIGASHIURA, K. & OKAMOTO, T. (2012). Life orientation of heteromorph ammonites under the negatively buoyant condition: a case study on the *Eubostrychoceras muramotoi* Matsumoto. *Kaseki (Fossils)* **92**, 19–30.
- HOFFMANN, R. & KEUPP, H. (2015). Ammonoid paleopathology. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 877–926. Springer, Dordrecht.
- HOFFMANN, R., SCHULTZ, J. A., SCHELLHORN, R., RYBACKI, E., KEUPP, H., GERDEN, S. R., LEMANIS, R. & ZACHOW, S. (2014). Non-invasive imaging methods applied to neo- and paleo- ontological cephalopod research. *Biogeosciences* 11, 2721–2739.
- HOFFMANN, R., LEMANIS, R., NAGLIK, C. & KLUG, C. (2015). Ammonoid buoyancy. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 613–646. Springer, Dordrecht.
- HOFFMANN, R., WEINKAUF, M. F. G., WIEDENROTH, K., GOEDDERTZ, P. & DE BAETS, K. (2019). Morphological disparity and ontogeny of the endemic heteromorph ammonite genus *Aegocrioceras* (Early Cretaceous, Hauterivian, NW-Germany). *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 520, 1–17.
- HOFFMANN, R., STEVENS, K., KEUPP, H., SIMONSEN, S. & SCHWEIGERT, G. (2020). Regurgitalites – a window into the trophic ecology of fossil cephalopods. *Journal of the Geological Society* 177, 82–102.
- HOGANSON, J. W. & MURPHY, E. C. (2002). Marine Breien member (Maastrichtian) of the Hell Creek formation in North Dakota: stratigraphy, vertebrate fossil record, and age. The Hell Creek formation and the Cretaceous–Tertiary boundary in the northern Great Plains: an integrated continental record of the end of the Cretaceous. *Geological Society of America Special Paper* **361**, 247–270.
- HOUSE, M. R. (1996). Juvenile goniatite survival strategies following Devonian extinction events. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications* 102, 163–185.
- IFRIM, C., BENGTSON, P. & SCHWEIGERT, G. (2018). Growth and function of spines in Jurassic and Cretaccous ammonites. *Cretaceous Research* 88, 62–78.
- IKEDA, Y. & WANI, R. (2012). Different modes of migration among Late Cretaceous ammonoids in northwestern Hokkaido, Japan: evidence from the analyses of shell whorls. *Journal of Paleontology* 86, 605–615.
- JACOBS, D. K. & LANDMAN, N. H. (1993). Nautilus a poor model for the function and behavior of ammonoids? Lethaia 26, 101–111.
- JACOBS, D. K., LANDMAN, N. H. & CHAMBERLAIN, J. A. (1994). Ammonite shell shape covaries with facies and hydrodynamics: iterative evolution as a response to changes in basinal environment. *Geology* 22, 905–908.
- JAGT, J. W. M., VAN BAKEL, B. W. M., CREMERS, G., DECKERS, M. J. M., DORTANGS, R. W., VAN ES, M., FRAAJE, R. H. B., KISTERS, P. J. M., VAN KNIPPENBERG, P. H. M., LEMMENS, H., NIEUWENHUIS, E., SEVERIJS, J. & STROUCKEN, J. W. (2013). Het Vroeg Paleoceen (Danien) van zuidelijk Limburg en aangrenzend gebied - nieuwe fauna's en nieuwe inzichten. Afzettingen WTKG 34, 198–212.

- JAIN, S. (2018). Genus Parapatoceras Spath from Kachchh and the likely ancestor of Epistrenoceras Bentz (Ammonoidea, middle Jurassic). Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 288, 255–272.
- JENKS, J. F., MONNET, C., BALINI, M., BRAYARD, A. & MEIER, M. (2015). Biostratigraphy of Triassic Ammonoids. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Macroevolution to Paleogeography. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 44, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 329–388. Springer, Dordrecht.
- KAKABADZE, M. V. (2004). Intraspecific and intragenetic variabilities and their implication for the systematics of Cretaceous heteromorph ammonites; a review. *Scripta Geologica* 128, 17–37.
- KAKABADZE, M. V. (2015). Towards the morphological classification of the heteromorph ammonites. Alexandre Janelidze Institute of Geology of Ivane Javakhishvili Tbilisi State University Proceedings, New Series 127, 23–28.
- KAKABADZE, M. V. & HOEDEMAKER, P. J. (2010). New data on Early Cretaceous (Hauterivian-Barremian) heteromorphic ammonites from northern Germany. *Scripta Geologica* 140, 1–168.
- KAKABADZE, M. V. & SHARIKADZE, M. Z. (1991). On the mode of life of *Ptychoceras* d'Orbigny (Ammonoidea). *Bulletin of the Academy of Sciences of Georgia* 141, 344–348 [in Russian with English abstract].
- KAKABADZE, M. V. & SHARIKADZE, M. Z. (1993). On the mode of life of heteromorph ammonites (heterocone, ancylocone, ptychocone). *Geobios MS* **15**, 209–215.
- KANIE, Y., TANABE, K., FUKUDA, Y., HIRANO, H. & OBATA, I. (1978). Preliminary study of jaw apparatus in some Late Cretaceous ammonites from Japan and Sakhalin. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan* 84, 629–631.
- KAPLAN, P. (2002). Biomechanics as a test of functional plausibility: testing the adaptive value of terminal-countdown heteromorphy in Cretaceous ammonoids. *Abhandlungen* der Geologischen Bundesanstalt 57, 181–197.
- KAPLAN, U., KENNEDY, W. J., LEHMANN, J. & MARCINOWSKI, R. (1998). Stratigraphie und Ammonitenfaunen des westfälischen Cenomans. Geologie und Paläontologie in Westfalen 51, 5–237.
- KAWABE, F. (2003). Relationship between mid-Cretaceous (upper Albian– Cenomanian) ammonoid facies and lithofacies in the Yezo forearc basin, Hokkaido, Japan. Cretaceous Research 24, 751–763.
- KEAR, A. J. (1994). Morphology and function of the mandibular muscles in some coleoid cephalopods. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association*, U.K. 74, 801–822.
- KENNEDY, W. J. (1970). A correlation of the uppermost Albian and the Cenomanian of south-West England. *Proceedings of the Geologists' Association* 81, 613–676.
- KENNEDY, W. J. (1986). Campanian and Maastrichtian ammonites from northern Aquitaine, France. Special Papers in Palaeontology 36, 1–145.
- KENNEDY, W. J. & COBBAN, W. A. (1976). Aspects of ammonite biology, biogeography, and biostratigraphy. Special Paper in Palaeontology 17, 1–94.
- KENNEDY, W. J. & COBBAN, W. A. (1994). Upper Campanian ammonites from the Mount Laurel Sand at Biggs Farm, Delaware. *Journal of Paleontology* 68, 1285–1305.
- KENNEDY, W. J. & JAGT, J. W. M. (1998). Additional Late Cretaceous ammonite records from the Maastrichtian type area. Bulletin de l'Institut royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique, Sciences de la Terre 68, 155–174.
- KENNEDY, W. J. & KAPLAN, U. (1995). Parapuzosia (Parapuzosia) seppenradensis (Landois) und die Ammonitenfauna der Dülmener Schichten (Unteres Campan, Westfalen). Geologie und Paläontologie von Westfalen 33, 5–127.
- KENNEDY, W. J. & KAPLAN, U. (1997). Ammoniten aus dem Campan des Stemweder Berges, Dammer Oberkreidemulde, NW-Deutschland. Geologie und Paläontologie von Westfalen 50, 31–245.
- KENNEDY, W., COBBAN, W. & SCOTT, G. (2000a). Heteromorph ammonites from the middle Campanian Baculites scotti zone in the US. Acta Geologica Polonica 50, 223–241.
- KENNEDY, W., COBBAN, W. & SCOTT, G. (2000b). Heteromorph ammonites from the upper Campanian (Upper Cretaceous) *Baculites cuneatus* and *Baculites reesidei* zones of the Pierre Shale in Colorado, USA. *Acta Geologica Polonica* 50, 1–20.
- KENNEDY, W. J., LANDMAN, N. H., COBBAN, W. A. & SCOTT, G. R. (2000c). Late Campanian (Cretaceous) heteromorph ammonites from the western interior of the United States. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* 251, 1–86.
- KENNEDY, W. J., COBBAN, W. A. & KLINGER, H. C. (2002a). Muscle attachment and mantle-related features in Upper Cretaceous *Baculites* from the United States Western interior. *Abhandlungen der Geologischen Bundesantstalt Wien* 57, 89–112.
- KENNEDY, W. J., LANDMAN, N. H., COBBAN, W. A. & LARSON, N. L. (2002b). Jaws and radulae in *Rhaeboeras*, a Late Cretaceous ammonite. In *Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium Cephalopods – Present and Past. Abhandlungen der Geologischen Bundesanstalt* (Volume 57, eds H. SUMMESBERGER, K. HISTON and A. DAURER), pp. 113–132. Geologische Bundesanstalt, Vienna.
- KEUPP, H. (2000). Ammoniten. Paläobiologische Erfolgsspiralen. pp. 165, Thorbecke Verlag, Stuttgart.
- KEUPP, H. (2005). Das Geheimnis der Spiralbänder: Farbmuster auf Ammonitengehäusen. Fossilien 6, 369–375.
- KEUPP, H. (2006). Sublethal punctures in body chambers of Mesozoic ammonites (forma aegra *fenestra* n.f.), a tool to interpret synecological relationships, particularly predator–prey interactions. *Paläontologische Zeitschrift* **80**, 112–123.

- KEUPP, H. (2012). Atlas zur Paläopathologie der Cephalopoden. Berliner paläobiologische Abhandlungen 12, 1–392.
- KEUPP, H., HOFFMANN, R., STEVENS, K. & ALBERSDÖRFER, R. (2016a). Key innovations in Mesozoic ammonoids: the multicuspidate radula and the calcified aptychus. *Palaeontology* 59, 775–791.
- KEUPP, H., SAAD, P. A. & SCHWEIGERT, G. (2016b). Nautiliden mit Kiefern und Mageninhalt. Fossilien 2016, 38–43.
- KLEIN, C. & LANDMAN, N. H. (2019). Intraspecific variation through ontogeny in Late Cretaceous ammonites. *American Museum Novitates* 2019(3922), 1–25.
- KLEIN, J., BUSNARDO, R., COMPANY, M., DELANOY, G., KAKABADZE, M., REBOULET, S., ROPOLO, P., VAŠÍČEK, Z. & VERMEULEN, J. (2007). Lower Cretaceous ammonites III – Bochianitoidea, Protancyloceratoidea, Ancyloceratoidea, Ptychoceratoidea. In *Fossilium Catalogus I: Animalia Pars 144* (ed. W. RIEGRAF), p. 380. Backhuys Publishers, Leiden.
- KLINGER, H. C. (1981). Speculations on buoyancy control and ecology in some heteromorph ammonites. *The Systematics Association Special Volume* 18, 337–355.
- KLINGER, H. C. & KENNEDY, W. J. (1977). Cretaceous faunas from Zululand, South Africa, and southern Mozambique. the Aptian Ancyloceratidae (Ammonoidea). Annals of the south African Museum 73, 215–359.
- KLINGER, H. C. & KENNEDY, W. J. (2001). Stratigraphic and geographic distribution, phylogenetic trends and general comments on the ammonite family Baculitidae Gill, 1871 (with an annotated list of species referred to the family). *Annals of the South African Museum* 107, 1–29.
- KLUG, C. (2001). Life-cycles of Emsian and Eifelian ammonoids (Devonian). *Lethaia* 34, 215–233.
- KLUG, C. (2007). Sublethal injuries in early Devonian cephalopod shells from Morocco. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica 52, 749–759.
- KLUG, C. & KORN, D. (2004). The origin of ammonoid locomotion. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica 49, 235–242.
- KLUG, C. & LEHMANN, J. (2015). Soft part anatomy of ammonoids: reconstructing the animal based on exceptionally preserved specimens and actualistic comparisons. In *Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecologyy*. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 507–529. Springer, Dordrecht.
- KLUG, C., KORN, D., RICHTER, U. & URLICHS, M. (2004). The black layer in cephalopods from the German Muschelkalk (Triassic). *Palaeontology* 47, 1407–1425.
- KLUG, C., MEYER, E., RICHTER, U. & KORN, D. (2008). Soft-tissue imprints in fossil and recent cephalopod septa and septum formation. *Lethaia* 41, 477–492.
- KLUG, C., RIEGRAF, W. & LEHMANN, J. (2012). Soft-part preservation in heteromorph ammonites from the Cenomanian–Turonian event (OAE 2) in the Teutoburger Wald (Germany). *Palaeontology* 55, 1307–1331.
- KLUG, C., KRÖGER, B., VINTHER, J., FUCHS, D. & DE BAETS, K. (2015a). Ancestry, origin and early evolution of ammonoids. In Ammonoid Paleobiology, Volume: From Macroevolution to Paleogeography. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 44, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 3–24. Springer, Dordrecht.
- KLUG, C., SCHWEIGERT, G., FUCHS, D., KRUTA, I. & TISCHLINGER, H. (2016). Adaptations to squid-style high-speed swimming in Jurassic belemnitids. *Biology Letters* 12, 1–5.
- KLUG, C., LANDMAN, N. H., FUCHS, D., MAPES, R. H., GUERIAU, P., REGUER, S. & HOFFMANN, R. (2019). Anatomy and evolution of the first Coleoidea in the carboniferous. *Nature Communications Biology*. 2, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s42003-019-0523-2.
- KORN, D. (2003). Typostrophism in ammonoids? *Paläontologische Zeitschrift* 77, 445–470.KORN, D., EBBIGHAUSEN, V., BOCKWINKEL, J. & KLUG, C. (2003). The a-mode sutural ontogeny in prolecanitid ammonoids. *Palaeontology* 46, 1123–1132.
- KRÖGER, B. (2000). Schalenverletzungen an jurassischen Ammoniten ihre paläobiologische und palökologische Aussagefähigkeit. Berliner Geowissenschaftliche Abhandlungen E 33, 1–97.
- KRÖGER, B. & MAPES, R. H. (2007). On the origin of bactritoids (Cephalopoda). Paläontologische Zeitschrift 81, 316–327.
- KRÖGER, B., VINTHER, J. & FUCHS, D. (2011). Cephalopod origin and evolution: a congruent picture emerging from fossils, development and molecules. *Bioessays* 33, 602–613. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201100001.
- KRUTA, I., ROUGET, I., LANDMAN, N. H., TANABE, K. & CECCA, F. (2009). Aptychi microstructure in Late Cretaceous Ancyloceratina (Ammonoidea). *Lethaia* 42, 312–321.
- KRUTA, I., LANDMAN, N. H., ROUGET, I., CECCA, F. & LARSON, N. L. (2010). The jaw apparatus of the Late Cretaceous ammonite *Didymoceras. Journal of Paleontology* 84, 556–560.
- KRUTA, I., LANDMAN, N. H., ROUGET, I., CECCA, F. & TAFFOREAU, P. (2011). The role of ammonites in the Mesozoic marine food web revealed by jaw preservation. *Science* 331, 70–72.
- KRUTA, I., LANDMAN, N. H., ROUGET, I., CECCA, F. & TAFFOREAU, P. (2013). The radula of the Late Cretaceous scaphitid ammonite *Rhaeboceras halli* (Meek and Hayden, 1856). *Palaeontology* 56, 9–14.

- KRUTA, I., LANDMAN, N. H. & COCHRAN, K. (2014). A new approach for the determination of ammonite and nautilid habitats. *PLoS One* 9, e87479. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087479.
- KRUTA, I., LANDMAN, N. H. & TANABE, K. (2015). Ammonoid radula. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 485–505. Springer, Dordrecht.
- KRUTA, I., BARDIN, J., SMITH, C. P. A., TAFFOREAU, P. & LANDMAN, N. H. (2019). Enigmatic hook-like structures in Cretaceous ammonites (Scaphitidae). *Palaeontology*, 63, 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12457.
- KRYSTYN, L. & WIEDMANN, J. (1985). Ein Choristoceras-Vorläufer (Ceratitina, Ammonoidea) aus dem Nor von Timor. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Monatshefte 8, 449–463.
- LANDMAN, N. H. (n.d.). The red bird section of the Pierre shale and the evolution of scaphitid ammonites. In *Insights into the Cretaceous: Building on the Legacy of William* A. Cobban (1916–2015) (eds J. S. SLATTERY, N. L. LARSON and M. BINGLE-DAVIS). Wyoming Geological Association Guidebook, Casper.
- LANDMAN, N. H. & KLOFAK, S. M. (2012). Anatomy of a concretion: life, death, and burial in the Western Interior Seaway. *Palaios* 27, 671–692.
- LANDMAN, N. H. & WAAGE, K. M. (1986). Shell abnormalities in scaphitid ammonites. *Lethaia* 19, 211–224.
- LANDMAN, N. H. & WAAGE, K. M. (1993a). Morphology and environment of Upper Cretaceous (Maastrichtian) scaphites. *Geobios* **26**, 257–265.
- LANDMAN, N. H. & WAAGE, K. M. (1993b). Scaphitid ammonites of the Upper Cretaceous (Maastrichtian) Fox Hills Formation in South Dakota and Wyoming. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 215, 1–257.
- LANDMAN, N. H., COCHRAN, J. K., RYE, D. M., TANABE, K. & ARNOLD, J. M. (1994). Early life history of *Nautilus*: evidence from isotopic analyses of aquarium-reared specimens. *Paleobiology* 20, 40–51.
- LANDMAN, N. H., TANABE, K. & SHIGETA, Y. (1996). Ammonoid embryonic development. In Annonoid Paleobiology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 13, eds N. H. LANDMAN, K. TANABE and R. A. DAVIS), pp. 344–405. Plenum Press, New York.
- LANDMAN, N. H., JOHNSON, R. O. & EDWARDS, L. E. (2004a). Cephalopods from the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary interval on the Atlantic coastal plain, with a description of the highest ammonite zones in North America. Part 1. Maryland and North Carolina. American Museum Novatiles 3454, 66.
- LANDMAN, N. H., JOHNSON, R. O. & EDWARDS, L. E. (2004b). Cephalopods from the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary interval on the Atlantic coastal plain, with a description of the highest ammonite zones in North America. Part 2. Northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 287, 107.
- LANDMAN, N. H., JOHNSON, R. O., GARB, M. P., EDWARDS, L. E. & KYTE, F. T. (2007a). Cephalopods from the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary interval on the Atlantic coastal plain, with a description of the highest ammonite zones in North America. Part III. Manasquan River basin, Monmouth County, New Jersey. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 303, 1–122.
- LANDMAN, N. H., LARSON, N. L. & COBBAN, W. A. (2007b). Jaws and radula of Baculites from the Upper Cretaceous (Campanian) of North America. In Cephalopods-Present and Past, New Insights and Fresh Perspectives (cds N. H. LANDMAN, R. A. DAVIES and R. H. MAPES), pp. 257–298. Springer, Heidelberg.
- LANDMAN, N. H., JOHNSON, R. O., GARB, M. P., EDWARDS, L. E. & KYTE, F. T. (2010a). Ammonites from the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary, New Jersey, USA. In *Cephalopods—Present and Past* (eds K. TANABE, Y. SHIGETA, T. SASAKI and H. HIRANO), pp. 287–295. Tokai University Press, Tokyo.
- LANDMAN, N. H., KENNEDY, W. J., COBBAN, W. A. & LARSON, N. L. (2010b). Scaphites of the "nodosus group" from the Upper Cretaceous (Campanian) of the Western Interior of North America. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 342, 1–242.
- LANDMAN, N. H., COBBAN, W. A. & LARSON, N. L. (2012a). Mode of life and habitat of scaphitid ammonites. *Geobios* 45, 87–98.
- LANDMAN, N. H., COCHRAN, J. K., LARSON, N. L., BREZINA, J., GARB, M. P. & HARRIES, P. J. (2012b). Methane seeps as ammonite habitats in the US Western interior seaway revealed by isotopic analyses of well-preserved shell material. *Geology* 40, 507–510.
- LANDMAN, N. H., GARB, M. P., ROVELLI, R., EBEL, D. S. & EDWARDS, L. E. (2012c). Short-term survival of ammonites in New Jersey after the end–Cretaceous bolide impact. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica 57, 703–715.
- LANDMAN, N. H., KENNEDY, W. J., COBBAN, W. A., LARSON, N. L. & JORGENSEN, S. D. (2013). A new species of *Hoploscaphiles* (Ammonoidea: Ancyloceratina) from cold methane seeps in the Upper Cretaceous of the U.S. Western interior. *American Museum Novitates* 3781, 1–39.
- LANDMAN, N., GOOLAERTS, S., JAGT, J. W. M., JAGT-YAZYKOVA, E. A., MACHALSKI, M. & YACOBUCCI, M. (2014). Ammonite extinction and nautilid survival at the end of the Cretaceous. *Geology* 42, 707–710.

- LANDMAN, N. H., GOOLAERTS, S., JAGT, J. W. M., JAGT-YAZYKOVA, E. A. & MACHALSKI, M. (2015). Ammonites on the brink of extinction: diversity, abundance, and ecology of the order Ammonoidea at the Cretaceous-Paleogene (K/Pg) boundary. In *Ammonid Paleobiology: From Macroevolution to Paleogeography*. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 44, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 497–553. Springer, Dordrecht.
- LANDMAN, N. H., KRUTA, I., DENTON, J. S. S. & COCHRAN, J. K. (2016a). Getting hooked: reply to the hypothesis that heteromorph ammonites were attached to kelp branches on the sea floor, as proposed by Arkhipkin (2014). *Journal of Molluscan Studies* 82, 354–364. https://doi.org/10.1093/mollus/eyv067.
- LANDMAN, N. H., SLATTERY, J. S. & HARRIES, P. J. (2016b). Encrustation of inarticulate brachiopods on scaphitid ammonites and inoceramid bivalves from the Upper Cretaceous U. S. Western Interior. Acta Geologica Polonica 66, 645–662.
- LANDMAN, N. H., COCHRAN, J. K., SLOVACEK, M., LARSON, N. L., GARB, M. P., BREZINA, J. & WITTS, J. D. (2018). Isotope sclerochronology of ammonites (*Baculites compressus*) from methane seep and non-seep sites in the Late Cretaceous Western Interior Seaway, USA: implications for ammonite habitat and mode of life. *American Journal of Science* **318**, 603–639. https://doi.org/10. 2475/06.2018.01.
- LANDMAN, N. H., KENNEDY, W. J., LARSON, N. L., GRIER, J. C., GRIER, J. W. & LINN, T. (2019). Description of two species of *Hoploscaphites* (Ammonoidea: Ancyloceratina) from the Upper Cretaceous (lower Maastrichtian) of the U.S. Western interior. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural history* 427, 1–72.
- LAPTIKHOVSKY, V., NIKOLAEVA, S. & ROGOV, M. (2018). Cephalopod embryonic shells as a tool to reconstruct reproductive strategies in extinct taxa. *Biological Reviews* 93, 270–283.
- LARSON, N. L. (2002). Predation and pathologies in the Late Cretaceous ammonite family Scaphitidae. MAPS Digest Mid-America Paleontology Society, Macomb IL 26, 1–23.
- LARSON, N. L. & LANDMAN, N. H. (2017). Description of the lower jaws of *Baculites* from the Upper Cretaceous U.S. Western interior. *Acta Geologica Polonica* 67, 109–120.
- LARSON, N. L., JORGENSEN, S. D., FARRAR, R. A. & LARSON, P. L. (1997). Ammonites and Other Cephalopods of the Pierre Seaway, p. 148. Geoscience Press, Arizona.
- LAWS, R. A. (1982). Late Triassic depositional environments and molluscan associations from west-Central Nevada. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 37, 131–148.
- LEHMANN, U. (1967). Ammoniten mit Tintenbeutel. Paläontologische Zeitschrift 41, 132–136.
- LEHMANN, J., KLUG, C. & WILD, F. (2015). Did ammonoids possess opercula? Reassessment of phosphatised soft tissues in *Glaphyrites* from Uruguay. *Paläontologische Zeitschrift* **89**, 63–77.
- LEHMANN, J., SIMPSON, M. I. & BAYLISS, H. M. (2019). A new ammonite fauna from the Walpenites horizon of the upper Aptian (Lower Cretaceous), Isle of Wight, southern England. Proceedings of the Geologists' Association. 131, 321–333. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pgeola.2019.01.006.
- LEMANIS, R., ZACHOW, S., FUSSEIS, F. & HOFFMANN, R. (2015). A new approach using high-resolution computed tomography to test the buoyant properties of chambered cephalopod shells. *Paleobiology* **41**, 313–329.
- LEMANIS, R., ZACHOW, S. & HOFFMANN, R. (2016). Comparative cephalopod shell strength and the role of septum morphology on stress distribution. *Peerj* **4**, e2434. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2434.
- LINDGREN, J., UVDAL, P., SJÖVALL, P., NILSSON, D. E., ENGDAHL, A., SCHULTZ, B. P. & THIEL, V. (2012). Molecular preservation of the pigment melanin in fossil melanosomes. *Nature Communications* 3, 824.
- LINZMEIER, B. J. (2019). Refining the interpretation of oxygen isotope variability in free-swimming organisms. *Swiss Journal of Palaeontology*. **138**, 109–121. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13358-019-00187-3.
- LINZMEIER, B. J., KOZDON, R., PETERS, S. E. & VALLEY, J. W. (2016). Oxygen isotope variability within *Nautilus* shell growth bands. *PLoS One* **11**, e0153890. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0153890.
- LINZMEIER, B. J., LANDMAN, N. H., PETERS, S. E., KOZDON, R., KITAJIMA, K. & VALLEY, J. W. (2018). Ion microprobe-measured stable isotope evidence for ammonite habitat and life mode during early ontogeny. *Paleobiology* 44, 684–708. https://doi.org/10.1017/pab.2018.21.
- LONGRIDGE, L. M. & SMITH, P. L. (2015). Ammonoids at the Triassic-Jurassic transition: pulling back from the edge of extinction. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Macroevolution to Paleogeography. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 44, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 475–496. Springer, Dordrecht.
- LUKENEDER, A. (2003). The Karsteniceras level: Dysoxic ammonoid beds within the Early Cretaceous (Barremian, northern calcareous Alps, Austria). Facies 49, 87–100.
- LUKENEDER, A. (2004). An equivalent of the *Karsteniceras* level within the Vienna woods (Sparbach section, Lunz nappe, northern calcareous Alps, Lower Austria). *Geologica Carpathica* **56**, 307–315.
- LUKENEDER, A. (2005). The Early Cretaceous Karsteniceras level in the Vienna woods (northern calcareous Alps, Lower Austria). Geologica Carpathica 56, 307.

- LUKENEDER, A. (2008). The ecological significance of solitary coral and bivalve epibionts on Lower Cretaceous (Valanginian-Aptian) ammonoids from the Italian Dolomites. *Acta Geologica Polonica* 58, 425–436.
- LUKENEDER, A. (2012). Computed 3D visualisation of an extinct cephalopod using computer tomographs. Computers & Geosciences 45, 68-74.
- LUKENEDER, A. (2015). Ammonoid habitats and life history. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 689–791. Springer, Dordrecht.
- LUKENEDER, A. & TANABE, K. (2002). In situ finds of aptychi in the Barremian of the alpine Lower Cretaceous (northern calcareous Alps, Upper Austria). *Cretaceous Research* 23, 15–24.
- LUKENEDER, A., HARZHAUSER, M., MÜLLEGGER, S. & PILLER, W. E. (2008). Stable isotopes (δ<sup>18</sup>O and δ<sup>13</sup>C) in *Spirula spirula* shells from three major oceans indicate developmental changes paralleling depth distributions. *Marine Biology* **154**, 175–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-008-0911-5.
- LUKENEDER, Å., HARZHAUSER, M., MÜLLEGGER, S. & PILLER, W. E. (2010). Ontogeny and habitat change in Mesozoic cephalopods revealed by stable isotopes (δ<sup>18</sup>O, δ<sup>13</sup>C). Earth and Planetary Science Letters **296**, 103–114.
- MACHALSKI, M. & HEINBERG, C. (2005). Evidence for ammonite survival into the Danian (Palcogene) from the *Cerithium* limestone at Stevns Klint, Denmark. *Bulletin* of the Geological Society of Denmark 52, 97–111.
- MACHALSKI, M., JAGT, J. W., LANDMAN, N. H. & MOTOCHYROVA-DEKOVA, N. (2007). The highest records of north American scaphitid ammonites in the European Maastrichtian (Upper Cretaceous) and their stratigraphic implications. *Acta Geologica Polonica* 57, 169–185.
- MACHALSKI, M., JAGT, J. W. M., HEINBERG, C., LANDMAN, N. H. & HÅKANSSON, E. (2009). Dańskie amonity – obecny stan wiedzy i perspektywy badań. Przegląd Geologiczy 57, 486–493.
- MAEDA, H. & SEILACHER, A. (1996). Ammonoid taphonomy. In: Ammonoid paleobiology. In Ammonoid Paleobiology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 13, eds N. H. LANDMAN, K. TANABE and R. A. DAVIS), pp. 543–578. Plenum Press, New York.
- MANDA, S. & TUREK, V. (2009a). A Silurian oncocerid with preserved colour pattern and muscle scars (Nautiloidea). *Bulletin of Geosciences* 84, 755–766.
- MANDA, S. & TUREK, V. (2009b). Minute Silurian oncocerid nautiloids with unusual colour patterns. Acta Geologica Polonica 54, 503–512.
- MANDA, S. & TUREK, V. (2015). Colour patterns on Silurian orthocerid and pseudorthocerid conchs from Gotland - palaeoecological implications. *Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences* 64, 74–79.
- MAPES, R. H. & LARSON, N. L. (2015). Ammonoid color patterns. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 25–44. Springer, Dordrecht.
- MAPES, R. H. & SNECK, D. A. (1987). The oldest ammonoid 'colour' patterns: description, comparison with *Nautilus*, and implications. *Palaeontology* **30**, 299–309.
- MAPES, R. H., HEMBREE, D. I., RASOR, B., STIGALL, A., GOIRAND, C. & DE FORGES, B. R. (2010a). Modern *Nautilus* (Cephalopoda) taphonomy in a subtidal to backshore environment, Lifou (Loyalty Islands). *Palaios* 25, 656–670.
- MAPES, R. H., LANDMAN, N. H., COCHRAN, K., GOIRAN, C., DE FORGES, B. R. & RENFO, A. (2010b). Early taphonomy and significance of naturally submerged *Nautilus* shells from the New Caledonia region. *Palaios* 25, 597–610.
- MARCINOWSKI, R. & WIEDMANN, J. (1990). The Albian ammonites of Poland. Palaeontologica Polonica 50, 1–94.
- MATHER, J. N. (1993). Octopuses as predators: implications for management. In *Recent Advances in Cephalopod Fisheries Biology* (eds T. OKUTANI, R. K. O'DOR and T. KUBODERA), pp. 275–282. Tokai University Press, Tokyo.
- MATHUR, A. (1996). Über Ammoniten der Kössener Schichten und den Nachweis der Tintenbeutel-Substanz Melanin bei ihnen. Documenta Naturae 102, 1–61.
- MATSUKAWA, M. (1987). Early shell morphology of Karsteniceras (Ancyloceratid) from the Lower Cretaceous Choshi group, Japan and its significance to the phylogeny of Cretaceous heteromorph ammonites. Transactions and Proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan, New series 148, 346–359.
- MATSUMOTO, T., FUTAKAMI, M., TANABE, K. & OBATA, I. (1981a). Upper Turonian ammonite assemblages in the Pombets area, Central Hokkaido. Bulletin Kitalyushu Museum of Natural History 3, 1–10.
- MATSUMOTO, T., MOROZUMI, Y., BANDO, Y., HASHIMOTO, H. & MATSUOKA, A. (1981b). Note on *Pravitoceras sigmoidale* Yabe (Cretaceous heteromorph ammonite). *Transactions and Proceedings of the Palaeontological Society of Japan, New series* **123**, 168–178.
- MATSUNAGA, T., MAEDA, H., SHIGETA, Y., HASEGAWA, K., NOMURA, S., NISHIMURA, T., MISAKI, A. & TANAKA, G. (2008). First discovery of *Praviloceras* sigmoidale Yabe from the Yezo Supergroup in Hokkaido, Japan. *Paleontological Research* 12, 309–319.
- MÁTYÁS, J., BURNS, S. J., MÜLLER, P. & MAGYAR, I. (1996). What can stable isotopes say about salinity? An example from the late Miocene Pannonian Lake. *Palaios* 11, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.2307/3515114.
- MCCONNAUGHEY, T. A. & GILLIKIN, D. P. (2008). Carbon isotopes in mollusk shell carbonates. *Geo-Marine Letters* 28, 287–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00367-008-0116-4.

- MEEHAN, K. C. & LANDMAN, N. H. (2016). Faunal associations in cold-methane seep deposits from the Upper Cretaceous Pierre shale, South Dakota. *Palaios* 31, 291–301.
- MEEK, F. B. & HAYDEN, F. V. (1864). Paleontology of the upper Missouri. Invertebrate. Smithsonian Contributions to Knowledge 172, 1–135.
- MEEK, F. B. & HAYDEN, F. V. (1865). Paleontology of the upper Missouri. Invertebrate part 1. Smithsonian Contributions to Knowledge 172, 118–121.
- METZDORF, R. & SOWIAK, M. (2003). Neue Erkentnisse über die Gehäusegestalt von Hyphantoceras reussianum (d'Orbigny, 1850) aus dem Bereich des Hyphantoceras-Event (Ober-Turonium) von Halle/Westf. Osnabrücker Naturwissenschaftliche Mitteilungen 29, 45–52.
- MIKHAILOVA, I. A. & BARABOSCHKIN, E. Y. (2009). The evolution of the heteromorph and monomorph Early Cretaceous ammonites of the suborder Ancyloceratina Wiedmann. *Paleontological Journal* 43, 527–536.
- MIRONENKO, A. A. (2015a). Color patterns in Jurassic ammonites from Central Russia. Contributions to Current Cephalopod Research PinRan118–119.
- MIRONENKO, A. A. (2015b). The soft-tissue attachment scars in late Jurassic ammonites from Central Russia. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica 60, 981–1000.
- MIRONENKO, A. A. (2016). A new type of shell malformation caused by epizoans in late Jurassic ammonites from Central Russia. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica 61, 645–660.
- MISAKI, A., MAEDA, H., KUMAGE, T. & ICHIDA, M. (2014). Commensal anomiid bivalves on Late Cretaceous heteromorph ammonites from south-West Japan. *Palaeontology* 57, 77–95.
- MITTA, V. V. (2017). The ammonoid genus *Spiroceras* (spiroceratidae, Ammonoidea) from the upper Bajocian of the northern Caucasus. *Paleontological Journal* 51, 133–142.
- MONKS, N. (1999). Cladistic analysis of Albian heteromorph ammonites. *Palaeontology* **42**, 907–925.
- MONKS, N. (2000a). Functional morphology, ecology, and evolution of the Scaphitaceae Gill, 1871 (Cephalopoda). *Journal of Molluscan Studies* **66**, 205–216.
- MONKS, N. (2000b). Mid-cretaceous heteromorph ammonite shell damage. Journal of Molluscan Studies 66, 283–285.
- MONKS, N. & YOUNG, J. R. (1998). Body position and the functional morphology of Cretaceous heteromorph ammonites. *Palaeontologia Electronica* 1, 15. https://doi. org/10.26879/98001.
- MONNET, C., DE BAETS, K. & KLUG, C. (2011). Parallel evolution controlled by adaptation and covariation in ammonoid cephalopods. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 11, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-11-115.
- MONNET, C., BRAYARD, A. & BROSSE, M. (2015a). Evolutionary trends of Triassic ammonoids. In Annonoid Paleobiology: From Macroevolution to Paleogeography. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 44, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 25–50. Springer, Dordrecht.
- MONNET, C., DE BAETS, K. & YACOBUCCI, M. M. (2015b). Buckman's rules of covariation. In Annonoid Paleobiology: From Macroevolution to Paleogeography. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 44, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 67–94. Springer, Dordrecht.
- MORIYA, K., NISHI, H., KAWAHATA, H., TANABE, K. & TAKAYANAGI, Y. (2003). Demersal habitat of Late Cretaceous ammonoids: evidence from oxygen isotopes for the Campanian (Late Cretaceous) northwestern Pacific thermal structure. *Geology* 31, 167–170.
- MORTON, N. (1983). Pathologically deformed *Graphaceras* (Ammonitina) from the Jurassic of Skye, Scotland. *Paleontology* 26, 443–453.
- MÜLLER, A. H. (1955). Der Grossablauf der stammesgeschichtlichen Entwicklung, p. 50. Fischer, Jena.
- NAGAO, T. (1931a). New discovery of aptychus in two species of ammonites from the Upper Cretaceous of Japan. *Proceedings of the Imperial Academy of Tolyso* 7, 165–168.
- NAGAO, T. (1931b). The occurrence of anaptychus-like bodies in the Upper Cretaceous of Japan. Proceedings of the Imperial Academy of Tokyo 7, 106–109.
- NAGLIK, C., MONNET, C., GÖTZ, S., KOLB, C., DE BAETS, K. & KLUG, C. (2015). Growth trajectories in chamber and septum volumes in major subclades of Paleozoic ammonoids. *Lethaia* 48, 29–46.
- NAGLIK, C., RIKHTEGAR, F. N. & KLUG, C. (2016). Buoyancy in Palaeozoic ammonoids from empirical 3D-models and their place in a theoretical morphospace. *Lethaia* 49, 3–12.
- NESIS, K. N. (1986). On the feeding and the causes of extinction of certain heteromorph ammonites. *Paleontological Journal* 20, 5–11.
- NESIS, K. N. (2005). Cephalopods: Intelligent and Fast (Stories from Private and Family Life of Squids, Cuttlefishes, Octopuses, and Nautilus Pompilius), p. 208. Octopus Publishers, Moscow [in Russian].
- NORMAN, M. (2000). Tintenfisch-Führer Kraken Argonauten Sepien Kalmare Nautiliden, 318 pp. Jahr Verlag, Hamburg.
- NOWAK, J. (1908). Untersuchungen über die Cephalopoden der oberen Kreide in Polen. I. Genus Baculites Lamarck. Bulletin of the International Academy of Science Cracovie, Classe des sciences mathématiques et naturelles 1911, 326–353.
- OGG, J. G., OGG, G. M. & GRADSTEIN, F. M. (eds) (2016). A Concise Geologic Time Scale, pp. 85–98. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

OKAMOTO, T. (1988a). Analysis of heteromorph ammonoids by differential geometry. Palaeontology 31, 35–52.

- OKAMOTO, T. (1988b). Changes in life orientation during the ontogeny of some heteromorph ammonites. *Palaeontology* 31, 281–2942.
- OKAMOTO, T. (1988c). Developmental regulation and morphological saltation in the heteromorph ammonite *Nipponites. Paleobiology* **14**, 272–286.
- OKAMOTO, T. (1996). Theoretical modelling of ammonoid morphology. In Ammonoid Paleobiology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 13, eds N. H. LANDMAN, K. TANABE and R. A. DAVIS), pp. 225–251. Plenum Press, New York.
- OKAMOTO, T. & SHIBATA, M. (1997). A cyclic mode of shell growth and its implications in a Late Cretaceous heteromorph ammonite *Polyptychoceras pseudogaultinum* (Yokoyama). *Paleontological Research* 1, 29–46.
- OLIVERO, E. B. & RAFFI, M. E. (2018). Onshore–offshore trends in Campanian ammonite facies from the Marambio group, Antarctica: implications for ammonite habitats. *Cretaceous Research* 88, 79–89.
- OLIVERO, E. B. & ZINSMEISTER, W. J. (1989). Large heteromorph ammonites from the Upper Cretaceous of Seymour Island, Antarctica. *Journal of Paleontology* **63**, 626–636.
- PÁLFY, J., DEMÉNY, A. & HAAS, J. (2001). Carbon isotope anomaly and other geochemical changes at the Triassic-Jurassic boundary from a marine section in Hungary. *Geology* 29, 1047–1050.
- PARENT, H., WESTERMANN, G. E. G. & CHAMBERLAIN, J. A. JR. (2014). Ammonite aptychi: functions and role of propulsion. *Geobios* 47, 45–55.
- PARKER, A. R. (2000). 515 million years of structural colour. Journal of Optics A: Pure and Applied Optics 2, R15–R28.
- PARKER, A. R. & MARTINI, N. (2006). Structural colour in animals simple to complex optics. Optics and Laser Technology 38, 315–322.
- PETERMAN, D. J., BARTON, C. C. & YACOBUCCI, M. M. (2019a). The hydrostatics of Paleozoic ectocochleate cephalopods (Nautiloidea and Endoceratoidea) with implications for modes of life and early colonization of the pelagic zone. *Palaeontologia Electronica* 22, 1–29.
- PETERMAN, D. J., CIAMPAGLIO, C., SHELL, R. C. & YACOBUCCI, M. M. (2019b). Mode of life and hydrostatic stability of orthoconic ectocochleate cephalopods: hydrodynamic analyses of restoring moments from 3D-printed, neutrally buoyant models of a baculite. *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica* 64, 441–460. https://doi.org/10. 4202/app.00595.2019.
- PETERMAN, D. J., HEBDON, N., CIAMPAGLIO, C. N., YACOBUCCI, M. M., LANDMAN, N. H. & LINN, T. (2020a). Syn vivo hydrostatic and hydrodynamic properties of scaphitid ammonoids from the U.S. Western interior. *Geobios* 60, 79– 98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gcobios.2020.04.004
- PETERMAN, D. J., LARSON, N. L., CIAMPAGLIO, C. N., YACOBUCCI, M. M. & LINN, T. (2020b). A method to the madness: ontogenetic changes in the hydrostatic properties of *Didymoceras* (Nostoceratidae, Ammonoidea). *Paleobiology* 46, 237–258.
- PETERMAN, D. J., MIKAMI, T. & INOUE, S. (2020c). The balancing act of *Nipponiles mirabilis* (Nostoceratidae, Ammonoidea): managing hydrostatics throughout a complex ontogeny. *PLoS One* 15, e0235180.
- PETERMAN, D. J., SHELL, R. C., CIAMPAGLIO, C. N. & YACOBUCCI, M. M. (2020d). Stable hooks: biomechanics of heteromorph ammonoids with U-shaped body chambers. *Journal of Molluscan Studies* 86, 267–279.
- PETERSEN, S. V., DUTTON, A. & LOHMANN, K. C. (2016). End-Cretaceous extinction in Antarctica linked to both Deccan volcanism and meteorite impact via climate change. *Nature Communication* 7, 12079.
- RAMMING, M., KORN, D., KLEIN, C. & KLUG, C. (2018). Morphology of the early Jurassic Arietitidae and the effects of syn vivo serpulid infestations. *Fossil Record* 21, 67–77.
- RASMUSSEN, J. A., HEINBERG, C. & HÅKANSSON, E. (2005). Planktonic foraminifers, biostratigraphy and the diachronous nature of the lowermost Danian Cerithium limestone at Stevns Klint, Denmark. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark 52, 113–131.
- RAUP, D. M. (1973). Depth inferences from vertically imbedded cephalopods. *Lethaia* 6, 217–225.
- REBOULET, S. & ATROPS, F. (1997). Quantitative variations in the Valanginian ammonite fauna of the Vocontian Basin (southeastern France) within limestonemarl cycles and within parasequence sets. *Palaeogeography Palaeoclimatology Palaeoecology* 135, 145–155.
- REBOULET, S., GIRAUD, F. & PROUX, O. (2005). Ammonoid abundance variations related to changes in trophic conditions across the oceanic anoxic event 1d (latest Albian, SE France). *Palaios* 20, 121–141.
- REYMENT, R. A. (1958). Some factors in the distribution of fossil cephalopods. Stockholm Contributions in Geology 1, 97–184.
- REYMENT, R. A. (1973). Factors in the distribution of fossil cephalopods part 3: experiments with exact models of certain shell types. *Bulletin of the Geological Institution of the University of Upsala* **4**, 7–41.
- REYMENT, R. A. (2008). A review of the post-mortem dispersal of cephalopod shells. Palaeontologia Electronica 11, 1–13.

- RITTERBUSH, K. A., DE BAETS, K., HOFFMANN, R. & LUKENEDER, A. (2014). Pelagic palaeoecology: the importance of recent constraints on ammonoid palaeobiology and life history. *Journal of Zoology* 292, 229–241.
- ROCHA, F., GUERRA, Á. & GONZÁLEZ, Á. F. (2001). A review of reproductive strategies in cephalopods. *Biological Reviews* 76, 291–304. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1464793101005681.
- RODHOUSE, P. G. & NIGMATULLIN, C. M. (1996). Cephalopods role as consumers. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences* 351, 1003–1022.
- ROGOV, M. A. (2018). Pseudoinversion of septal sutures in middle Jurassic Lower Cretaceous non-heteromorph ammonites and its significance for ammonoid palaeobiology. *Münstersche Forschungen zur Geologie und Paläontologie* 110, 94–95.
- ROGOV, M. A. & MIRONENKO, A. A. (2016). Patterns of the evolution of aptychi of middle Jurassic to Early Cretaceous boreal ammonites. *Swiss Journal of Palaeontology* 135, 139–151.
- ROPOLO, P. (1995). Implications of variation in coiling in some Hauterivian (Lower Cretaceous) heteromorph ammonites from the Vocontian basin, France. In Proceeding of the 3rd Workshop on Early Cretaceous Cephalopods. Memoirs Descritive della Carta Geologica d'Italia (Volume 51, ed. F. CECCA. Rom: Istituto Poligrafico e Zecca dello Stato), pp. 137–165.
- ROWE, A. J., LANDMAN, N. H., COCHRAN, J. K., WITTS, J. D. & GARB, M. P. (2020). Late Cretaceous methane seeps as habitats for newly hatched ammonites. *Palaios* 35, 51–163.
- ROY, A., PITTMAN, M., SAITTA, E. T., KAYE, T. G. & XU, X. (2020). Recent advances in amniote palaeocolour reconstruction and a framework for future research. *Biological Reviews* 95, 22–50.
- SADLER, P. (1988). Geometry and stratification of uppermost Cretaceous and Paleogene units on Seymour Island, northern Antarctic. In *Geology and Paleontology* of Seymour Island, Antarctic Peninsula. Geological Society of America Memoir (Volume 169, eds R. M. FELDMAN and M. O. WOODBURNE. Washington: Geological Society of America), pp. 303–320.
- SARTI, C. (1999). Protancyloceras (Ammonoidea) in the lower Tithonian sequences of the Trento plateau (venetian Alps, northern Italy). Profil 16, 49–56.
- SCALIA, M., GEREMIA, E., CORSARO, C., SANTORO, C., BARATTA, D. & SICHEL, G. (1990). Lipid peroxidation in pigmented and unpigmented liver tissues: protective role of melanin. *Pigment Cell Research* 3, 115–119.
- SCHÄFER, N. (2013). Raman spectroscopy in Geobiology Advances in detection and interpretation of organic signatures in rocks and minerals. *PhD Georg-August University* School of Science, Göttingen, Germany.
- SCHINDEWOLF, O. H. (1928). Über Farbstreifen bei Amaltheus (Paltopleuroceras) spinatus (Brug.). Paläontologische Zeitschrift 10, 136–143.
- SCHINDEWOLF, O. H. (1931). Nochmals über Farbstreifen bei Amaltheus (Paltopleuroceras) spinatus (Brug.). Paläontologische Zeitschrift 13, 284–287.
- SCHINDEWOLF, O. H. (1936). Paläontologie, Entwicklungslehre und Genetik. vii + 108. Borntraeger, Berlin.
- SCHINDEWOLF, O. H. (1945). Darwinismus oder Typostrophismus? Különnyomat a Magyar Biologiai Kutatóintézet Munkáiból 16, 104–177.
- SCHLÜTER, C. A. (1875). Ein Baculites knorrianus von Lüneburg, in dessen Wohnkammer noch die beiden zugehörigen Aptychen stecken. Sitzungsberichte der Niederrheinischen Gesellschaft für Natur Heilkunde 1875, 31–32.
- SCHLÜTER, C. A. (1876). Cephalopoden der oberen deutschen Kreide, 2. Abteilung. Palaeontographica 24, 123–163.
- SCHULTE, P., ALEGRET, L., ARENILLAS, I., ARZ, J. A., BARTON, P. J., BOWN, P. R., BRALOWER, T. J., CHRISTESON, G. L., CLAEYS, P., COCKELL, C. S., COLLINS, G. S., DEUTSCH, A., GOLDIN, T. J., GOTO, K., GRAJALES-NISHIMURA, J. M., et al. (2010). The Chicxulub asteroid impact and mass extinction at the Cretaceous-Paleogene boundary. *Science* 327, 1214–1218.
- SCOTT, G. (1940). Paleoecological factors controlling distribution and mode of life of Cretaceous ammonoids in Texas area. AAPG Bulletin 24, 1164–1203.
- SEILACHER, A. (2013). Patterns of macroevolution through the Phanerozoic. Palaeontology 56, 1273–1283.
- SEILACHER, A. & GUNJI, P. Y. (1993). Morphogenetic countdowns in heteromorph shells. Neues Jahrbuch f
  ür Geologie und Pal
  äontologie, Abhandlungen 190, 237–265.
- SESSA, J. A., LARINA, E., KNOLL, K., GARB, M., COCHRAN, J. K. & HUBER, B. T. (2015). Ammonite habitat revealed via isotopic composition and comparisons with co-occurring benthic and planktonic organisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **112**, 15562–15567. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1507554112.
- SHEVYREV, A. A. (2005). Heteromorph ammonoids of the Triassic: a review. Paleontological Journal 39, S614–S628.
- SHEVYREV, A. A. (2006). The cephalopod macrosystem: a historical review, the present state of knowledge, and unsolved problems: 3. Classification of Bactritoidea and Ammonoidea. *Paleontological Journal* 40, 150–161.
- SHIGENO, S., SASAKI, T., MORITAKI, T., KASUGAI, T., VECCHIONE, M. & AGATA, K. (2008). Evolution of the cephalopod head complex by assembly of multiple

molluscan body parts: evidence from *Nautilus* embryonic development. *Journal of* Morphology 269, 1–17.

- SHIGENO, S., SASAKI, T. & BOLETZKY, S. V. (2010). The origins of cephalopod body plans: a geometrical and developmental basis for the evolution of vertebrate-like organ systems. In *Cephalopods—Present and Past* (eds K. TANABE, Y. SHIGETA, T. SASAKI and H. HIRANO), pp. 23–34. Tokai University Press, Tokyo.
- SHIGENO, S., ANDREWS, P. L. R., PONTE, G. & FIORITO, G. (2018). Cephalopod brains: an overview of current knowledge to facilitate comparison with vertebrates. *Frontiers in Physiology* 9, 952. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00952.
- SLATTERY, J. S., HARRIES, P. J., CAVIGELLI, J. P. & SANDNESS, A. L. (2012). A review of Late Cretaceous (Campanian and Maastrichtian) heteromorphic ammonite paleobiology, paleoecology, and diversity in the Western interior of North America. In *Invertebrates: Spineless Wonders: Tate Conference Program Guide* (Volume 18, ed. J. P. CAVIGELLI Casper, Wyoming: Tate Geological Museum, Casper College), pp. 76–93.
- SLATTERY, J. S., HARRIES, P. J. & SANDNESS, A. L. (2018). Do marine faunas track lithofacies? Faunal dynamics in the Upper Cretaceous Pierre shale, Western interior, USA. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* **496**, 205–224.
- SMITH, C., KRUTA, I. & LANDMAN, N. H. (2018). In the body chamber of Rhaeboceras halli: hooks and teeth. Münstersche Forschungen zur Geologie und Paläontologie 110, 99.
- SNOW, M. R., PRING, A., SELF, P., LOSIC, D. & SHAPTER, J. (2004). The origin of the colour of pearls in iridescence from nano-composite structures of the nacre. *American Mineralogist* 89, 1353–1358.
- SOULE, D. F. & KLEPPEL, G. S. (1988). Marine Organisms as Indicators. Springer, New York.
- STEPHENSON, L. W. (1941). The larger invertebrate fossils of the Navarro Group of Texas (exclusive of corals and crustaceans and exclusive of the fauna of the Escondido formation). *The University of Texas Publication* **4101**, 1–641.
- STILKERICH, J., SMRECAK, T. A. & DE BAETS, K. (2017). 3D-analysis of a nonplanispiral ammonoid from the Hunsrück slate: natural or pathological variation? *Perf* 5, e3526. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3526.
- STINNESBECK, W., FREY, E. & ZELL, P. (2016). Evidence for semi-sessile early juvenile life history in Cretaceous ammonites. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 457, 186–194.
- TAJIKA, A., NAGLIK, C., MORIMOTO, N., PASCUAL-CEBRIAN, E., HENNHOEFER, D. & KLUG, C. (2015). Empirical 3D model of the conch of the middle Jurassic ammonite microconch *Normannites*: its buoyancy, the physical effects of its mature modifications and speculations on their function. *Historical Biology* 27, 181–191.
- TAJIKA, A., KÜRSTEINER, P., PICTET, A., LEHMANN, J., TSCHANZ, K., JATTIOT, R. & KLUG, C. (2017). Cephalopod associations and palaeoecology of the Cretaceous (Barremian–Cenomanian) succession of the Alpstein, northeastern Switzerland. *Cretaceous Research* 70, 15–54.
- TAJIKA, A., NÜTZEL, A. & KLUG, C. (2018). The old and the new plankton: ecological replacement of associations of mollusc plankton and giant filter feeders after the Cretaceous? *Perf* **9**, e4219. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4219.
- TAJIKA, A., LANDMAN, N. H., HOFFMANN, R., LEMANIS, R., MORIMOTO, N., IFRIM, C. & KLUG, C. (2020). Chamber volume development, metabolic rates, and selective extinction in cephalopods. *Scientific Reports* 10, 2950. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-020-59748-z.
- TANABE, K. (1975). Functional morphology of Otoscaphites puerculus (Jimbo), an Upper Cretaceous ammonite. Transactions and Proceedings of the Palaeontological Society of Japan, New series 99, 109–132.
- TANABE, K. (1979). Palaeoecological analysis of ammonoid assemblages in the Turonian Scaphites facies of Hokkaido, Japan. Palaeontology 22, 609–630.
- TANABE, K. (2011). The feeding habits of ammonites. Science 331, 37-38.
- TANABE, K. & LANDMAN, N. H. (2002). Morphological diversity of the jaws of Cretaceous Ammonoidea. In Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium Cephalopods – Present and Past. Abhandlungen der Geologischen Bundesanstalt (Volume 57, eds H. SUMMESBERGER, K. HISTON and A. DAURER), pp. 157–165. Geologische Bundesanstalt, Vienna.
- TANABE, K., OBATA, I. & FUTAKAMI, M. (1978). Analysis of ammonoid assemblages in the upper Turonian of the Manji area, Central Hokkaido. Bulletin of the National Science Museum, C (Geology) 4, 37–60.
- TANABE, K., HIRANO, H. & KANIE, Y. (1980). The jaw apparatus of *Scalarites mihoensis*, a Late Cretaceous ammonite. In *Prof. Saburo Kanno Memorial Volume* (eds H. IGO and H. NODA), pp. 159–165. University of Tsukuba, Tsukuba.
- TANABE, K., KRUTA, I. & LANDMAN, N. H. (2015a). Ammonoid buccal mass and jaw apparatus. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 43, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 429–484. Springer, New York.
- TANABE, K., TSUJINO, Y., OKUHIRA, K. & MISAKI, A. (2015b). The jaw apparatus of the Late Cretaceous heteromorph ammonoid *Pravitoceras. Journal of Paleontology* 89, 611–616.
- TOBIN, T. S. (2017). Recognition of a likely two phased extinction at the K-Pg boundary in Antarctica. *Scientific Reports* 7, 16317.

- TRUEMAN, A. E. (1941). The ammonite body chamber with special reference to the buoyancy and mode of life of the living ammonite. *Quaternary Journal of the Geological Society of London* 96, 339–383.
- TSUJINO, Y., NARUSE, H. & MAEDA, H. (2003). Estimation of allometric shell growth by fragmentary specimens of *Baculites tanakae* Matsumoto and Obata (a Late Cretaceous heteromorph ammonoid). *Paleontological Research* 7, 245–255.
- TSUJITA, C. J. & WESTERMANN, G. E. (1998). Ammonoid habitats and habits in the Western Interior Seaway: a case study from the Upper Cretaceous Bearpaw Formation of southern Alberta, Canada. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology*, *Palaeoecology* 144, 135–160.
- TUREK, V. & MANDA, S. (2011). Colour pattern polymorphism in Silurian nautiloid Phragmoceras Broderip, 1839. Bulletin of Geosciences 86, 91–105.
- TUREK, V. & MANDA, S. (2012). "An endocochleate experiment" in the Silurian straight-shelled cephalopod Sphooceras. Bulletin of Geosciences 87, 767–813.
- VAN DER TUUK, L. A. & ZIJLSTRA, J. J. P. (1979). Eerste vondst van een Nostoceras (orde Ammonoidea) in Nederland. Grondboor & Hamer 3, 116–120.
- URDY, S. (2015). Theoretical modelling of the molluscan shell: what has been learned from the comparison among molluscan taxa? In *Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Anatomy to Ecology*. Topics in Geobiology (Volume **43**, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 207–251. Springer, Dordrecht.
- VALLON, L. (2012). Digestichnia (Vialov, 1972) an almost forgotten ethological class of trace fossils. *New Mexico Museum of Natural history and Science, Bulletin* 57, 131–135.
- VAŠÍČEK, Z. & WIEDMANN, J. (1994). The Leptoceratoidinae: small heteromorph ammonites from the Barremian. *Palaeontology* 37, 203–239.
- VELLEKOOP, J., VAN TILBORGH, K. H., VAN KNIPPENBERG, P., JAGT, J. W. M., STASSEN, P., GOOLAERTS, S. & SPEIJER, R. P. (2020). Type Maastrichtian gastropod faunas showing rapid ecosystem recovery following the Cretaceous/Paleogene boundary catastrophe. *Palaeontology* **63**, 349–367.
- VERMEULEN, J. (2005). Boundaries, ammonite fauna and main subdivisions of the stratotype of the Barremian. In: Adatte, T., Arnaud-Vanneau, A., Arnaud, H., Blanc-Aletru, M.-C., Bodin, S., Carrio-Schaffauser, E., Föllmi, K., Godet, A., Raddadi, M.C. and Vermeulen, J. The Hauterivian lower Aptian sequence stratigraphy from Jura platform to Vocontian basin: a multidisciplinary approach. Field-trip of the 7th International symposium on the Cretaceous (September 1–4, 2005). Géologie Alpine, Colloques et Excursions 7, 147–173.
- WAKAMATSU, K. & ITO, S. (2002). Advanced chemical methods in melanin determination. *Pigment Cell Research* 15, 174–183.
- WANI, R. (2004). Experimental fragmentation patterns of modern *Nautilus* shells and the implications for fossil cephalopod taphonomy. *Lethaia* 37, 113–123.
- WANI, R. & GUPTA, N. S. (2015). Ammonoid taphonomy. In Ammonoid Paleobiology: From Macroevolution to Paleogeography. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 44, eds C. KLUG, D. KORN, K. DE BAETS, I. KRUTA and R. H. MAPES), pp. 555–598. Springer, Dordrecht.
- WANI, R., KASE, T., SHIGETA, Y. & DE OCAMPO, R. (2005). New look at ammonoid taphonomy, based on field experiments with modern chambered nautilus. *Geology* 33, 849–852.
- WARD, P.D. (1976) Stratigraphy, paleoecology and functional morphology of heteromorph ammonites of the Upper Cretaceous Nanaimo Group, British Columbia and Washington. *PhD, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario*, p. 188.
- WARD, P. D. (1981). Shell sculpture as a defensive adaption in ammonoids. *Paleobiology* 7, 96–100.
- WARD, P. D. (1987). The Natural history of Nautilus, p. 286. Allen and Unwin, London.
- WARD, P. D. (1996). Ammonoid extinction. In Ammonoid Paleobiology. Topics in Geobiology (Volume 13, eds N. LANDMAN, K. TANABE and R. A. DAVIS), pp. 23–42. Plenum Press, New York.
- WARD, P. D. & KENNEDY, W. J. (1993). Maastrichtian ammonites from the Biscay region (France, Spain). *Journal of Paleontology* 67, 1–58.
- WARD, P. D. & WESTERMANN, G. E. G. (1976). Sutural inversion in a heteromorph ammonite and its implication for septal formation. *Lethaia* 9, 357–361.
- WARD, P. D. & WESTERMANN, G. E. G. (1977). First occurrence, systematics, and functional morphology of *Nipponites* (Cretaceous Lytoceratina) from the Americas. *Journal of Paleontology* 51, 367–372.
- WARD, P. D., STONE, R., WESTERMANN, G. E. G. & MARTIN, A. (1977). Notes on animal weight, cameral fluids, swimming speed, and color polymorphism of the cephalopod *Nautilus pompilius* in the Fiji Islands. *Paleobiology* 3, 377–388.
- WARD, P. D., HAGGART, J. W. & CARTER, E. S. (2001). Sudden productivity collapse associated with the Triassic-Jurassic boundary mass extinction. *Science* 292, 1148–1151.
- WARD, P. D., GARRISON, G. H. & HAGGART, J. W. (2004). Isotopic evidence bearing on late Triassic extinction events, Queen Charlotte Islands, British Columbia, and implications for the duration and cause of the Triassic-Jurassic mass extinction. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* 224, 589–600.
- WARD, P. D., HAGGART, J. W., MITCHELL, R. & CATLIN, E. (2015). Quantitative morphological description of the Late Cretaceous ammonite *Baculites inomatus*

Meek from western North America: implications for species concepts in the biostratigraphically important Baculitidae. *Journal of Paleontology* **89**, 594–610.

- WESTERMANN, G. E. G. (1975). Model for origin, function and fabrication of fluted cephalopod septa. *Paläontologische Zeitschrift* 49, 235–253.
- WESTERMANN, G. E. G. (1977). Form and function of orthoconic cephalopod shells with concave septa. *Paleobiology* 3, 300–321.
- WESTERMANN, G. E. G. (1996). Ammonite life and habitat. In Ammonoid Paleobiology, Topics in Geobiology (Volume 13, eds N. H. LANDMAN, K. TANABE and R. A. DAVIS), pp. 608–710. Plenum Press, New York.
- WESTERMANN, G. E. G. (2013). Hydrostatics, propulsion and life-habits of the Cretaccous ammonoid Baculites. Revue de Paléobiologie 32, 249–265.
- WETZEL, W. (1969). Seltene Wohnkammerinhalte von Neoammoniten. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Monatshefte 1, 46–53.
- WHITEHOUSE, F. W. (1926). The Cretaceous Ammonoidea of eastern Australia. Memoirs of the Queensland Museum 3, 195–242.
- WIEDMANN, J. (1966a). Stammesgeschichte und System der posttriadischen Ammonoideen – Ein Überblick (1. Teil). Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 125, 49–79.
- WIEDMANN, J. (1966b). Stammesgeschichte und System der posttriadischen Ammonoideen, ein Überblick (2 Teil). Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 127, 13–81.
- WIEDMANN, J. (1969). The Heteromorphs and the ammonoid extinction. *Biological Reviews* 44, 463–602.
- WIEDMANN, J. (1973a). Evolution or revolution of ammonoids at Mesozoic system boundaries. *Biological Reviews* 48, 159–194.
- WIEDMANN, J. (1973b). Upper Triassic heteromorph ammonites. In Atlas of Palaeobiogeography (ed. A. HALLAM), pp. 235–249. Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Amsterdam.
- WIERZBOWSKI, A. (1990). The taxonomy and phylogenetic significance of early Tithonian ammonites of the genus *Protancyloceras* Spath from the Pieniny Klippen Belt (Carpathians, Poland). In *Atti II Convegno Internationale Fossili Evoluzione Ambiente*, *Pergola 25–30 ottobre 1987* (eds M. PALLINI, F. CECCA, S. CRESTA and M. SANTANTONIO), pp. 479–489. Ostra Vetere, Pergoly, Italy.
- WIPPICH, M. G. E. & LEHMANN, J. (2004). Allocrioceras from the Cenomanian (mid-Cretaceous) of the Lebanon and its bearing on the palaeobiological interpretation of heteromorphic ammonites. *Palaeontology* 47, 1093–1108.
- WITMER, L. M. (1995). The extant phylogenetic bracket and the importance of reconstructing soft tissues in fossils. In *Functional Morphology in Vertebrate Paleontology* (ed. J. J. THOMASON), pp. 19–32. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- WITTS, J. D., WHITTLE, R. J., WIGNALL, P. B., CRAME, J. A., FRANCIS, J. E., NEWTON, R. J. & BOWMAN, V. C. (2016). Macrofossil evidence for a rapid and severe Cretaceous-Paleogene mass extinction in Antarctica. *Nature Communications* 7, 11738.
- WITTS, J. D., LANDMAN, N. H., HOPKINS, M. & MYERS, C. E. (2020). Evolutionary stasis, ecophenotypy, and environmental controls on ammonite morphology in the Late Cretaceous (Maastrichtian) Western Interior Seaway, USA. *Palaeontology* 63, 791–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12488.
- WRIGHT, C. W., CALLOMON, J. H. & HOWARTH, M. K. (1996). Part L Mollusca 4 revised, volume 4: Cretaceous Ammonoidea. In *Treatise on Invertebrate Palaeontology* (ed. R. C. MOORE), p. 362. Geological Society of America & The University of Kansas Press, Boulder.
- YACOBUCCI, M. (2018). Postmortem transport in fossil and modern shelled cephalopods. *Perf* 6, e5909. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5909.
- YAHADA, H. & WANI, R. (2013). Limited migration of scaphitid ammonoids: evidence from the analyses of shell whorls. *Journal of Paleontology* 87, 406–412.
- YIN, J., SMITH, P. L., PÁLFY, J. & ENAY, R. (2007). Ammonoids and the Triassic/Jurassic boundary in the Himalayas of southern Tibet. *Palaeontology* 50, 711–737.
- ZIEGLER, B. (1967). Ammoniten-Ökologie am Beispiel des Oberjura. Geologische Rundschau 56, 439–464.

### X. Supporting information

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article. **Table S1.** Known occurrences of upper and lower jaws and radulae in heteromorph ammonoids.

**Table S2.** Distribution of palaeopathologies of ammonoid heteromorphs in chronological order.

Table S3. Heteromorph ammonite stomach content.

**Table S4.** Published facies distributions of Devonian, Triassic, Jurassic, and Cretaceous heteromorph ammonoids.

(Received 8 April 2020; revised 3 November 2020; accepted 6 November 2020)